Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: June 28, 2021 REVISED: August 23, 2021 ACCEPTED: August 29, 2021 PUBLISHED: September 24, 2021

# Strings in bimetric spacetimes

## Ziqi Yan

Nordita, KTH Royal Institute of Technology and Stockholm University, Hannes Alfvéns väg 12, SE-106 91 Stockholm, Sweden

E-mail: ziqi.yan@su.se

ABSTRACT: We put forward a two-dimensional nonlinear sigma model that couples (bosonic) matter fields to topological Hořava gravity on a nonrelativistic worldsheet. In the target space, this sigma model describes classical strings propagating in a curved spacetime background, whose geometry is described by two distinct metric fields. We evaluate the renormalization group flows of this sigma model on a flat worldsheet and derive a set of beta-functionals for the bimetric fields. Imposing worldsheet Weyl invariance at the quantum level, we uncover a set of gravitational field equations that dictate the dynamics of the bimetric fields in the target space, where a unique massless spin-two excitation emerges. When the bimetric fields become identical, the sigma model gains an emergent Lorentz symmetry. In this single metric limit, the beta-functionals of the bimetric fields reduce to the Ricci flow equation that arises in bosonic string theory, and the bimetric gravitational field equations give rise to Einstein's gravity.

KEYWORDS: Bosonic Strings, Renormalization Group, Sigma Models, p-branes

ARXIV EPRINT: 2105.00011



## Contents

1	Introduction	1
<b>2</b>	2 Classical strings in a bimetric geometry	4
	2.1 Elements on Hořava gravity	4
	2.2 Dynamics of worldsheet geometry	6
	2.3 Sigma models in a bimetric spacetime	7
	2.4 Time-reversal breaking and trimetricity	10
3	Renormalization of bimetric sigma models	12
	3.1 Bimetric geometry in the target space	13
	3.2 Bimetric covariant expansions	15
	3.3 Heat kernel method for bimetric sigma models	17
	3.3.1 Heat kernel representation of the effective action	ı 17
	3.3.2 Solving the recursion relations	20
	3.3.3 Perturbative expansion of the heat kernel coeffic	ient 21
	3.4 Dilaton contributions	24
	3.5 Beta-functionals and coupled Ricci flows	25
	3.6 Bimetric dynamics and linearized gravity	26
4	Outlooks: membranes at quantum criticality	28
	4.1 Bosonic membranes and $O(N)$ nonlinear sigma model	29
	4.2 Supermembranes in a bimetric spacetime	30
5	<b>Conclusions</b>	32
A	A Exact heat kernel coefficient	34

JHEP09 (2021) 164

#### 1 Introduction

String theory has been serving as a powerful paradigm for addressing fundamental questions in theoretical physics. As a quantum-mechanically consistent framework that admits a massless spin-two excitation, string theory provides a natural arena for testing outstanding ideas about quantum gravity. It has been long known that different superstring theories are corners of a single eleven-dimensional theory of supermembranes dubbed M-theory. However, unlike string theory, which can be defined perturbatively with respect to the genera of Riemann surfaces, there is no simple way of justifying a perturbative expansion in membranes. Another difficulty of defining a quantum theory of membranes comes from the lack of quantization techniques [1]. It is widely believed that the hypothetical M-theory is inevitably strongly coupled and should be probed by exploring nonperturbative regimes of string theory.

In [2], a rather different approach towards a quantum theory of membranes is pioneered, which is designed such that its ground-state wavefunction reproduces the partition function of bosonic string theory. This construction introduces a space and time anisotropy in the worldvolume, and the membranes are described by a three-dimensional nonlinear sigma model (NLSM) at a z = 2 Lifshitz point, where z denotes the critical dynamical exponent, implying that the worldvolume degrees of freedom enjoy a quadratic dispersion relation and are fundamentally nonrelativistic. The NLSM is coupled to three-dimensional Hořava gravity on the nonrelativistic worldvolume. The worldvolume anisotropy induces a preferred foliation structure by leaves of constant time, which allows one to consistently restrict the sum over three-manifolds in the membrane theory to be a set of more tractable foliated manifolds, bypassing some of the major difficulties in the construction of quantum membranes.

The membrane theory introduced in [2], referred to as membranes at quantum criticality, opens up the study of a new spectrum of power-counting renormalizable sigma models coupled to worldvolume Hořava gravity of different dimensions. In the flat worldvolume limit, the worldvolume admits isometries generated by time and space translations, supplemented with the spatial rotations, but there are no boost symmetries. This spacetime is nonrelativistic and known as Aristotelian spacetime [3, 4]. At renormalization group (RG) fixed points, the sigma models develop various anisotropic scaling invariances, i.e. Lifshitz scaling symmetries, and become of the Lifshitz-type. One important step forward is to understand the appropriate target spacetime geometries to which the branes (strings) described by such Lifshitz-type sigma models should be coupled. This requires a thorough analysis of the RG flow structure of these nonrelativistic sigma models, which still remains under-explored.

In this paper, we focus on the simplest example of the infinite hierarchy of Lifshitz-type sigma models: a two-dimensional sigma model at a z = 1 Lifshitz point that describes classical strings propagating in spacetime. This is a stringy analogue of the three-dimensional sigma model for membranes at quantum criticality. At the z = 1 Lifshitz point, the space and time have the same scaling dimension. However, the NLSM is generically nonrelativistic because *no* boost symmetry is imposed *a priori*. On a flat worldsheet, our sigma model is

$$S = \frac{1}{4\pi\alpha'} \int_{\Sigma} dt \, dx \left\{ \partial_t X^{\mu} \, \partial_t X^{\nu} \, G_{\mu\nu}(X) - \partial_x X^{\mu} \, \partial_x X^{\nu} \, H_{\mu\nu}(X) \right\},\tag{1.1}$$

where  $X^{\mu} = X^{\mu}(t, x)$ ,  $\mu = 0, 1, \dots, d-1$  are worldsheet fields that map the worldsheet  $\Sigma$  to a *d*-dimensional target space. Without any (neither Lorentzian nor Galilean) boost symmetry on the worldsheet, the background fields  $G_{\mu\nu}$  and  $H_{\mu\nu}$  are independent symmetric two-tensors. Assuming that these two-tensors are non-degenerate, the geometry of the target space described by  $G_{\mu\nu}$  and  $H_{\mu\nu}$  has a bimetric feature.<sup>1</sup> Although the worldsheet is not boost invariant, the target space is Lorentzian (see section 2.3). The action (1.1)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Lifshitz-type sigma models that describe supermembranes propagating in a bimetric spacetime have been discussed in [5], which we will review later in section 4.

defines a unitary and renormalizable quantum field theory. At the RG fixed point where  $G_{\mu\nu} = H_{\mu\nu}$ , the action (1.1) develops an emergent Lorentz symmetry on the worldsheet and underlies standard bosonic string theory, with the target space geometry encoded in a single metric.

For the sigma model (1.1) to describe nonrelativistic strings moving in a bimetric spacetime, we will couple the matter fields  $X^{\mu}$  to appropriate worldsheet gravity that lacks any local boost symmetry, i.e. Hořava gravity in two-dimensions, which is topological and has the notion of a preferred time direction. We will discuss how to couple the sigma model to dilaton fields on a curved worldsheet, at least at the classical level. This forms an essential ingredient towards understanding whether our NLSM is ultimately qualified as a consistent quantum theory of strings that generalize the standard string theory. If there indeed exists a notion of perturbative string theory for the Lifshitz-type NLSM (1.1), we will have a simple example that goes beyond the framework of relativistic (bosonic) string theory.<sup>2</sup> This hypothetical "bimetric string theory" would define us a bimetric quantum gravity. Alternatively, if there arise any obstacles for defining such bimetric string theory with two distinct spacetime metrics at the quantum level, we would have a rather strong no-go theorem that reinforces the uniqueness of relativistic string theory.

Regardless whether our sigma model can ultimately be promoted to be a full-fledged quantum theory of strings, the renormalization of the Lifshitz-type sigma model (1.1) already presents a well-defined and challenging problem. In this paper, we will mostly focus on the beta-functionals of the background metric fields  $G_{\mu\nu}$  and  $H_{\mu\nu}$  in (1.1).<sup>3</sup> Imposing worldsheet Weyl invariance at the quantum level leads to vanishing beta-functionals, which give rise to a set of field equations that define a novel bimetric gravity. This is analogous to how Einstein's gravity arises in two-dimensional relativistic sigma model on a curved spacetime background. We will analyze the linearized bimetric gravity and reveal that, in the free theory perturbing around flat spacetime, there is one massless spin-two gauge field, together with other tensorial degrees of freedom that satisfy the Klein-Gordon equation. This RG calculation not only provides us with an opportunity for probing exotic bimetric geometries, but also constitutes essential first steps towards a vast landscape of generically nonrelativistic theories of strings and membranes,<sup>4</sup> where relativistic string theory only emerges at a corner with Lorentz symmetry.

The paper is organized as follows. In section 2, we define our sigma model coupled to two-dimensional Hořava gravity on the worldsheet, and show that this sigma model describes strings moving in a bimetric spacetime when a time-reversal symmetry is imposed. In section 3, we use the heat kernel method to compute the one-loop beta-functions of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Different notions of nonrelativistic strings already exist in the literature. See, e.g., [6-12]. These theories of nonrelativistic strings arise as different corners embedded in relativistic string theory, with various Galilean-type boost symmetries. Along other lines, certain classes of multi-gravity have been shown to arise in relativistic string theory [13]. In contrast, the Lifshitz-type sigma models are beyond relativistic string theory.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The beta-functionals will be expressed as a Taylor expansion with respect to G - H that we take to be sufficiently small. See section 3.3.3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>In the particle case, however, the sigma model is defined on a worldline and identical to the relativistic case, with a unique metric encoding the target space geometry.

bimetric sigma model on a flat worldsheet, in terms of a Taylor expansion with respect to the difference between the metric fields. This result is summarized in (3.89). In section 4, we discuss generalizations of the string sigma model to classical theories of membranes at quantum criticality. We conclude the paper in section 5. In appendix A, we present the full result of the heat kernel coefficient that is relevant to the beta-function calculation.

## 2 Classical strings in a bimetric geometry

In this section, we construct a NLSM that maps a two-dimensional nonrelativistic worldsheet  $\Sigma$  to a *d*-dimensional spacetime manifold  $\mathcal{M}$  equipped with two metric fields. We first define the desired nonrelativistic symmetries of the worldsheet, generically excluding any (Lorentzian nor Galilean) boost transformations. The dynamics of the worldsheet geometry is described by two-dimensional Hořava gravity at a z = 1 Lifshitz point, which is topological. We will couple scalar fields to this two-dimensional nonrelativistic gravity and build up a sigma model that describes classical strings moving in a bimetric geometry.

#### 2.1 Elements on Hořava gravity

We start with a brief review of Hořava gravity following [2, 14], which we will use later to describe the worldsheet geometry. Hořava gravity lives on a (D + 1)-dimension spacetime manifold  $\Sigma$  equipped with a foliation by leaves of codimension one, which are slices of constant time. We will use the coordinates  $(t, \mathbf{x} = (x^i, i = 1, \dots, D))$  that are adapted to the foliation structure. The dynamics of this foliated geometry is described by the ADM formalism variables, originally introduced in the Hamiltonian formulation of general relativity, where the relativistic spacetime metric is decomposed into the lapse function N, the shift vector  $N_i$ , and the spatial metric  $\gamma_{ij}$  [15]. In Hořava gravity, the ADM variables are used to define the time length element  $ds_{\rm T}^2 = N^2 dt^2$ , and the space length element  $ds_{\rm L}^2 = \gamma_{ij} (N^i dt + dx^i) (N^j dt + dx^j)$ , which are a priori unrelated [16]. The time (space) length is measured in the time (space) unit T(L), with

$$\dim(ds_{\mathrm{T}}) = \dim(t) = T, \qquad \dim(ds_{\mathrm{L}}) = \dim(\mathbf{x}) = L.$$
(2.1)

It follows that the classical dimensions of the ADM variables are

$$\dim(N) = 1$$
,  $\dim(N_i) = L/T$ ,  $\dim(\gamma_{ij}) = 1$ . (2.2)

At RG fixed points, the classical theory develops anisotropic scale invariance with the dynamical critical exponent z, such that  $T \sim L^z$ , which leads to the scaling dimensions for the spacetime coordinates,

$$[t] = -1, \qquad [\mathbf{x}] = -z^{-1}, \qquad (2.3)$$

and for the ADM variables,

$$[N] = 0, \qquad [N_i] = 1 - z^{-1}, \qquad [\gamma_{ij}] = 0.$$
(2.4)

In this convention, energy is of scaling dimension one.

The gauge symmetries in Hořava gravity are diffeomorphisms that preserve the foliation structure. These foliation-preserving diffeomorphisms act on the spacetime coordinates as

$$t \to t'(t), \qquad \mathbf{x} \to \mathbf{x}'(t, \mathbf{x}).$$
 (2.5)

Infinitesimally, we write  $\delta t = \zeta(t)$  and  $\delta x^i = \xi^i(t, \mathbf{x})$ . The ADM variables transform under the infinitesimal foliation-preserving diffeomorphisms as

$$\delta N = \partial_t (\zeta N) + \xi^i \,\partial_i N \,, \tag{2.6a}$$

$$\delta N_i = \partial_t (\zeta N_i) + \xi^j \mathcal{D}_j N_i + N_j \mathcal{D}_i \xi^j + \gamma_{ij} \partial_t \xi^j, \qquad (2.6b)$$

$$\delta \gamma_{ij} = \zeta \,\partial_t \gamma_{ij} + \mathcal{D}_i \,\xi_j + \mathcal{D}_j \,\xi_i \,. \tag{2.6c}$$

Quantities that transform covariantly with respect to the foliation-preserving diffeomorphims include the extrinsic curvature,

$$K_{ij} = \frac{1}{2N} \left( \partial_t \gamma_{ij} - \mathcal{D}_i N_j - \mathcal{D}_j N_i \right), \qquad (2.7)$$

the spatial Riemann curvature tensor  $R^k{}_{\ell i j}$ , the acceleration  $a_i = -N^{-1} \mathcal{D}_i N$ , the covariant time derivative  $d_n$ , and the spatial covariant derivative  $\mathcal{D}_i$ . Here,  $d_n$  is defined to be the Lie derivative with respect to the vector field

$$n = \frac{1}{N} \left( \partial_t - N^i \,\partial_i \right), \tag{2.8}$$

and projected onto the spatial slice. The covariant derivative  $\mathcal{D}_i$  is defined with respect to the spatial metric  $\gamma_{ij}$ , satisfying the compatible condition  $\mathcal{D}_i \gamma_{jk} = 0$ . We will also impose the following time-reversal symmetry:

$$t \to -t$$
,  $N \to N$ ,  $N_i \to -N_i$ ,  $\gamma_{ij} \to \gamma_{ij}$ , (2.9)

which forbids terms that are odd in time derivatives. In addition, we impose the anisotropic Weyl invariance [2],

$$N \to e^{z W(t,\mathbf{x})} N, \qquad N_i \to e^{2 W(t,\mathbf{x})} N_i, \qquad \gamma_{ij} \to e^{2 W(t,\mathbf{x})} \gamma_{ij}. \tag{2.10}$$

We will soon construct the NLSM that couples scalar fields to two-dimensional Hořava gravity. Requiring that the anisotropic Weyl invariance (2.10) hold classically as well as at quantum level will give rise to a set of consistency equations that dictate the dynamics of the target space geometry.

In flat limit, we have the ground state solution N = 1,  $N_i = 0$ , and  $\gamma_{ij} = \delta_{ij}$ . This ground state solution possesses the isometries

$$\delta t = \zeta, \qquad \delta x^i = \xi^i + \omega^i{}_j \,\xi^j \,, \tag{2.11}$$

where  $\zeta$  and  $\xi^i$  parametrize translations in temporal and spatial directions, respectively, and  $\omega^i{}_j$  parametrizes spatial rotations. Such spacetime without any (Lorentzian or Galilean) boost symmetry is Aristotelian spacetime [3, 4]. In the special case when z = 1, however, the isometry group of the ground state solution is enlarged to the Poincaré group that incorporates the Lorentzian boosts.

#### 2.2 Dynamics of worldsheet geometry

We define the worldsheet to be a two-dimensional manifold  $\Sigma$ , equipped with a codimension-one foliation structure. The coordinates on the worldsheet are  $(t, x \equiv x^1)$ . We also require the foliation-preserving diffeomorphisms (2.5) on the worldsheet,

$$t \to t'(t), \qquad x \to x'(t, x).$$
 (2.12)

Infinitesimally, we write

$$\delta t = \zeta(t), \qquad \delta x = \xi(t, x). \tag{2.13}$$

Note that we have suppressed a raised "x" index in  $\xi$ . Under the infinitesimal foliationpreserving diffeomorphisms, from (2.6) we find that the ADM variables transform as

$$\delta N = \partial_t (\zeta N) + \xi \, \partial_x N \,, \tag{2.14a}$$

$$\delta \chi = \partial_t (\zeta \chi) + \partial_x (\xi \chi) + \gamma \partial_t \xi, \qquad (2.14b)$$

$$\delta\gamma = \zeta \,\partial_t \gamma + 2\,\sqrt{\gamma}\,\partial_x(\sqrt{\gamma}\,\xi)\,. \tag{2.14c}$$

We defined the shift function  $\chi \equiv N_x$  and the spatial metric  $\gamma \equiv \gamma_{xx}$ . The dynamics of the worldsheet geometry is then described by two-dimensional Hořava gravity that we have briefed in section 2.1 with D = z = 1, such that the theory is at its lower critical dimension.

Imposing the time-reversal symmetry

$$t \to -t$$
,  $N \to N$ ,  $\chi \to -\chi$ ,  $\gamma \to \gamma$ , (2.15)

we classify independent terms that transform as scalars under the foliation-preserving diffeomorphisms in (2.14) and are of scaling dimension two:

$$K^2, \qquad d_n K, \qquad \gamma^{-1} a^2, \qquad \gamma^{-1} \mathcal{D}_x a = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\gamma}} \partial_x \left(\frac{a}{\sqrt{\gamma}}\right), \qquad (2.16)$$

where

$$K = \frac{1}{N\sqrt{\gamma}} \left[ \partial_t \sqrt{\gamma} - \partial_x \left( \frac{\chi}{\sqrt{\gamma}} \right) \right], \qquad (2.17a)$$

$$d_n K = \frac{1}{N} \left( \partial_t - \frac{\chi}{\gamma} \, \partial_x \right) K, \tag{2.17b}$$

$$a \equiv a_x = -\frac{1}{N} \partial_x N. \tag{2.17c}$$

The anisotropic Weyl transformation (2.10) reduces to

$$N \to e^{W(t,\mathbf{x})}N, \qquad \chi \to e^{2W(t,\mathbf{x})}\chi, \qquad \gamma \to e^{2W(t,\mathbf{x})}\gamma.$$
 (2.18)

There are two independent linear combinations among the ingredients in (2.16) that are invariant under the Weyl transformation (2.18), namely [17],

$$K^2 + d_n K$$
,  $\gamma^{-1} \left( a^2 - \mathcal{D}_x a \right)$ . (2.19)

The two-dimensional Weyl-invariant Hořava gravity is described by the following action:

$$S_{\rm gr.} = \frac{1}{\kappa^2} \int_{\Sigma} dt \, dx \, N \sqrt{\gamma} \left[ \left( K^2 + d_n K \right) - \alpha \, \gamma^{-1} \left( a^2 - \mathcal{D}_x \, a \right) \right] \,, \tag{2.20}$$

with two independent coupling constants  $\kappa$  and  $\alpha$ . For simplicity, we have taken  $\Sigma$  to be compact and boundaryless, and thus (2.20) does not include any boundary curvature terms. This theory is purely topological, which is manifested by rewriting  $S_{\rm gr.}$  as

$$S_{\rm gr.} = \frac{1}{\kappa^2} \int_{\Sigma} dt \, dx \, \left\{ \partial_t \left( \gamma^{1/2} \, K \right) - \partial_x \left[ \gamma^{-1/2} \left( \chi K - \alpha \, Na \right) \right] \right\} \,, \tag{2.21}$$

where the integrand only contains total derivative terms.

In the special case when  $\alpha = 1$ , we find

$$S_{\rm gr.} = \frac{1}{2\kappa^2} \int_{\Sigma} dt \, dx \, \sqrt{-h} \, R \, [h] \, ,$$
 (2.22)

where R[h] is the Ricci scalar defined with respect to a worldsheet metric  $h_{\alpha\beta}$ , with

$$h_{\alpha\beta} = \begin{pmatrix} -N^2 + \gamma^{-1} \chi^2 & \chi \\ \chi & \gamma \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.23)

and  $h = \det h_{\alpha\beta}$ . This is simply the two-dimensional Einstein-Hilbert action, which is conformally invariant. At this relativistic fixed point, the foliation-preserving diffeomorphisms are extended to the full relativistic diffeomorphisms.

#### 2.3 Sigma models in a bimetric spacetime

We are ready to couple scalar fields to the worldsheet geometry presented in section 2.2, and construct the sigma model that describes classical strings propagating in a bimetric geometry.

Define the worldsheet scalar fields  $X^{\mu}(t,x)$ ,  $\mu = 0, 1, \dots, d-1$  that map the twodimensional worldsheet  $\Sigma$  to a *d*-dimensional target space  $\mathcal{M}$ . We require that  $X^{\mu}$  transform trivially under the worldsheet foliation-preserving diffeomorphisms, time-reversal symmetry, and Weyl transformation. Coupling  $X^{\mu}$  to the worldsheet gravity introduced in section 2.2 gives rise to the following sigma model action:

$$S_X = \frac{1}{4\pi\alpha'} \int_{\Sigma} dt \, dx \, N\sqrt{\gamma} \left\{ d_n X^{\mu} \, d_n X^{\nu} \, G_{\mu\nu}(X) - \gamma^{-1} \, \partial_x X^{\mu} \, \partial_x X^{\nu} \, H_{\mu\nu}(X) \right\}, \qquad (2.24)$$

where  $[X^{\mu}] = 0$  and  $G_{\mu\nu}(X)$  and  $H_{\mu\nu}(X)$  are arbitrary functionals of  $X^{\mu}$ . All the terms in (2.24) are marginal. The background fields  $G_{\mu\nu}$  and  $H_{\mu\nu}$  are *a priori* unrelated due to the lack of any boost symmetries that transform the worldsheet coordinates *t* and *x* into each other. The action (2.24) is invariant under the target space reparametrizations:

$$G'_{\mu\nu}(X') = \frac{\partial X^{\rho}}{\partial X'^{\mu}} \frac{\partial X^{\sigma}}{\partial X'^{\nu}} G_{\rho\sigma}(X), \qquad H'_{\mu\nu}(X') = \frac{\partial X^{\rho}}{\partial X'^{\mu}} \frac{\partial X^{\sigma}}{\partial X'^{\nu}} H_{\rho\sigma}(X), \qquad (2.25)$$

i.e. both  $G_{\mu\nu}$  and  $H_{\mu\nu}$  transform as a symmetric two-tensor field. Under the condition that these two-tensor fields are non-degenerate, they are both qualified as metric fields.

Therefore, the sigma model defined in (2.24) that consists of Lifshitz scalars at a z = 1Lifshitz point describes strings moving in a target space whose geometry is encoded in two metric fields. We will refer to this type of geometries as a *bimetric geometry*. Intriguingly, even though the worldsheet lacks any boost symmetry, the target space geometry has the full Lorentzian boost symmetry. As we will see in later discussions, the bimetric theory that arises in our sigma model deviates drastically from the conventional bimetric formalism of massive gravity [18] (see section 3.6). Also note that the sigma model we consider here does not accommodate any Kalb-Ramond field, which breaks the time-reversal symmetry (2.15). In a variant of our sigma model that we will soon introduce in section 2.4, the time-reversal symmetry is explicitly broken, and the same Kalb-Ramond term considered in relativistic string theory can be included.

Although it is natural to write down the sigma model (2.24) that describes classical strings in a curved bimetric background, it would be instructive to have a more stringy explanation for how the curved spacetime arises. In string theory, a curved spacetime emerges as a coherent state of strings, essentially by exponentiating the closed string vertex operators associated with the graviton and other massless states [19, 20]. Similarly, in (2.24), one may also consider a bimetric spacetime that perturbs around the flat metric, with

$$G_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2} (F_{\mu\nu} + f_{\mu\nu}), \qquad H_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2} (F_{\mu\nu} - f_{\mu\nu}), \qquad (2.26)$$

where both  $F_{\mu\nu}$  and  $f_{\mu\nu}$  are small. Focusing on states with a fixed spacetime momentum  $k_{\mu}$ , we require that

$$F_{\mu\nu} \propto e^{ik \cdot X} S_{\mu\nu}, \qquad f_{\mu\nu} \propto e^{ik \cdot X} s_{\mu\nu}$$
 (2.27)

are plane waves. Then, the action (2.24) can be obtained by inserting an exponentiation of the following composite operators in the path integral:

$$V_F = \frac{g_F}{2} \int_{\Sigma} dt \, dx \, N \sqrt{\gamma} \left( d_n X^{\mu} \, d_n X^{\nu} - \gamma^{-1} \, \partial_x X^{\mu} \, \partial_x X^{\nu} \right) \, e^{ik \cdot X} \, S_{\mu\nu} \,, \tag{2.28a}$$

$$V_f = \frac{g_f}{2} \int_{\Sigma} dt \, dx \, N \sqrt{\gamma} \, \left( d_n X^{\mu} \, d_n X^{\nu} + \gamma^{-1} \, \partial_x X^{\mu} \, \partial_x X^{\nu} \right) \, e^{ik \cdot X} \, s_{\mu\nu} \,. \tag{2.28b}$$

Such operators must respect the local worldsheet Weyl invariance, requiring which at the quantum level gives rise to consistency conditions on  $S_{\mu\nu}$  and  $s_{\mu\nu}$ . One way to obtain these conditions is by demanding that the beta-functions of the sigma model vanish, such that the worldsheet theory is scale invariant at the quantum level. This RG analysis can be done on a flat worldsheet, and we will explore it in section 3 and argue in section 3.6 that  $F_{\mu\nu}$  gives rise to a massless spin-two excitation. Nevertheless, it would be appealing to have a more direct derivation of such consistency conditions by requiring that the vertex operators (2.28) be free of Weyl anomalies. For this purpose, we need to understand how to renormalize the vertex operators on a curved worldsheet, which is beyond the current scope. Moreover, since our worldsheet theory (2.24) is generally *not* conformal, it is not necessarily true that every physical state corresponds to a vertex operator.

The Nambu-Goto formalism of (2.24) can be obtained readily by integrating out the worldsheet gravitational fields N,  $\gamma$ , and  $\chi$  in the path integral. Since there is no propagating degrees of freedom in our worldsheet gravity, we can eliminate N,  $\gamma$ , and  $\chi$  by

taking their equations of motion to be on-shell. There are two independent equations of motion from varying these worldsheet gravitational fields,

$$\frac{\chi}{\gamma} = \frac{G_{tx}}{G_{xx}}, \qquad \frac{N^2}{\gamma} = -\frac{\det G_{\alpha\beta}}{G_{xx} H_{xx}}, \qquad G_{\alpha\beta} = \begin{pmatrix} G_{tt} & G_{tx} \\ G_{xt} & G_{xx} \end{pmatrix},$$
(2.29)

where  $G_{\alpha\beta} \equiv \partial_{\alpha} X^{\mu} \partial_{\beta} X^{\nu} G_{\mu\nu}$ . To write down (2.29), we already assumed that both  $G_{xx}$  and  $H_{xx}$  are nonzero. Plugging (2.29) into (2.24), we find the analogue of the Nambu-Goto formalism of bosonic string theory,<sup>5</sup>

$$S_{\rm NG} = \frac{1}{2\pi\alpha'} \int dt \, dx \sqrt{\frac{H_{xx}}{G_{xx}}} \sqrt{-\det G_{\alpha\beta}} \,, \qquad (2.30)$$

where  $H_{xx} = \partial_x X^{\mu} \partial_x X^{\nu} H_{\mu\nu}$ . In the special case when  $G_{\mu\nu} = H_{\mu\nu}$ , (2.30) reduces to the Nambu-Goto action that describes relativistic string theory.

The full worldsheet theory that couples the Lifshitz scalar  $X^{\mu}$  to the topological Hořava gravity (2.20) is given by

$$S = \frac{1}{4\pi\alpha'} \int_{\Sigma} dt \, dx \, N\sqrt{\gamma} \left\{ d_n X^{\mu} \, d_n X^{\nu} \, G_{\mu\nu} \left( X \right) - \gamma^{-1} \, \partial_x X^{\mu} \, \partial_x X^{\nu} \, H_{\mu\nu} \left( X \right) \right\} + \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\Sigma} dt \, dx \, N\sqrt{\gamma} \left\{ \left( K^2 + d_n K \right) \, \Phi_{\mathrm{T}} \left( X \right) - \gamma^{-1} \left( a^2 - \mathcal{D}_x \, a \right) \, \Phi_{\mathrm{L}} \left( X \right) \right\},$$

$$(2.31)$$

where  $\Phi_{\rm T}(X)$  and  $\Phi_{\rm L}(X)$  are dilaton fields associated with the temporal and spatial derivative terms, respectively. Both the dilaton fields transform as target space scalars. In the special case when  $G_{\mu\nu} = H_{\mu\nu}$  and  $\Phi \equiv \Phi_{\rm T} = \Phi_{\rm L}$ , the worldsheet action (2.31) becomes

$$S_{\text{rel.}} = -\frac{1}{4\pi\alpha'} \int_{\Sigma} dt \, dx \, \sqrt{-h} \, h^{\alpha\beta} \partial_{\alpha} X^{\mu} \, \partial_{\beta} X^{\nu} \, G_{\mu\nu}(X) + \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\Sigma} dt \, dx \, \sqrt{-h} \, R[h] \, \Phi(X) \,,$$

$$(2.32)$$

which gains accidental local Lorentzian symmetry and describes relativistic string theory.

Using the space diffeomorphism  $\delta x = \xi(t, x)$  in (2.13), we fix the shift function  $\chi$  to zero by choosing an appropriate value of  $\xi$  in (2.14b). However, the time diffeomorphism  $\delta t = \zeta(t)$  is *not* sufficient to fix N and  $\gamma$  up to a conformal factor as in relativistic string theory. Plugging  $\chi = 0$  into (2.31), we obtain the gauge-fixed action,

$$S = \frac{1}{4\pi\alpha'} \int_{\Sigma} dt \, dx \left\{ \frac{\sqrt{\gamma}}{N} \, \partial_t X^{\mu} \, \partial_t X^{\nu} \, G_{\mu\nu} \left( X \right) - \frac{N}{\sqrt{\gamma}} \, \partial_x X^{\mu} \, \partial_x X^{\nu} \, H_{\mu\nu} \left( X \right) \right\} + \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\Sigma} dt \, dx \left\{ \partial_t \left( \frac{\partial_t \sqrt{\gamma}}{N} \right) \, \Phi_{\mathrm{T}} \left( X \right) - \partial_x \left( \frac{\partial_x N}{\sqrt{\gamma}} \right) \Phi_{\mathrm{L}} \left( X \right) \right\} \,.$$

$$(2.33)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>If  $G_{xx} = 0$  and  $H_{xx} \neq 0$ , and assuming that  $\gamma, \chi$ , and N are finite but nonzero, then integrating out  $\chi$  in (2.24) requires  $G_{tx} = 0$ , and (2.30) becomes  $S_{\text{NG}} = (2\pi\alpha')^{-1} \int dt \, dx \sqrt{-G_{tt} H_{xx}}$ . Similarly, if  $G_{xx} \neq 0$  and  $H_{xx} = 0$ , we are left with a constraint det  $G_{\alpha\beta} = 0$ . The Nambu-Goto formalism (2.30) is also nonsingular if  $H_{xx}/G_{xx}$  is held to be finite in the limit  $H_{xx}, G_{xx} \to 0$ . For example, in the relativistic limit, we have  $H_{xx} \to G_{xx}$ ; no matter whether  $H_{xx}$  and  $G_{xx}$  are zero or not, (2.30) always reduces to the relativistic Nambu-Goto action with  $S_{\text{NG}} \to (2\pi\alpha')^{-1} \int dt \, dx \sqrt{-\det G_{\alpha\beta}}$ .

The flat target space limit is given by  $G_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu}$ ,  $H_{\mu\nu} = c^2 \eta_{\mu\nu}$ , and  $\Phi_{T,L} = \Phi_{T,L}^{(0)}$ , where c is the worldsheet speed of light and  $\Phi_{T,L}^{(0)}$  are constants. In this limit, (2.33) becomes

$$S_{\text{flat}} = \frac{1}{4\pi\alpha'} \int_{\Sigma} dt \, dx \left( e \,\partial_t X^{\mu} \,\partial_t X_{\mu} - c^2 \, e^{-1} \,\partial_x X^{\mu} \,\partial_x X_{\mu} \right) + \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\Sigma} dt \, dx \left\{ \partial_t \left( \frac{\partial_t \sqrt{\gamma}}{N} \right) \Phi_{\text{T}}^{(0)} - \partial_x \left( \frac{\partial_x N}{\sqrt{\gamma}} \right) \Phi_{\text{L}}^{(0)} \right\} ,$$

$$(2.34)$$

where  $e = \sqrt{\gamma} / N$ . The flat-spacetime action is invariant under the global Poincaré transformations,

$$\delta X^{\mu} = \Theta^{\mu} + \Lambda^{\mu}{}_{\nu} X^{\nu}, \qquad (2.35)$$

which are isometries in the target space. The equation of motion from varying  $X^{\mu}$  in  $S_{\text{flat}}$  is

$$\partial_t \left( e \,\partial_t X^\mu \right) - c^2 \,\partial_x \left( e^{-1} \,\partial_x X^\mu \right) = 0 \,. \tag{2.36}$$

Varying the geometrical data e in  $S_{\text{flat}}$  gives rise to part of the stress energy tensor,

$$T_1 \equiv \frac{1}{\alpha'} \left( e \,\partial_t X^\mu \,\partial_t X^\mu + c^2 \,e^{-1} \,\partial_x X^\mu \,\partial_x X_\mu \right) = 0 \,. \tag{2.37}$$

The other component of the stress energy tensor comes from varying  $\chi$  in the action (2.24), followed by setting  $\chi$  to zero, which gives

$$T_2 \equiv \frac{2e}{\alpha'} \partial_t X^\mu \, \partial_x X_\mu = 0 \,. \tag{2.38}$$

The curvature terms in (2.33) are total derivatives and do not make contribution to the stress energy tensor components (2.37) and (2.38). The equations (2.37) and (2.38) are analogues of the Virasoro constraints in bosonic string theory. However, unlike the relativistic worldsheet theory, we do *not* have enough diffeomorphism to fix *e* to one. Instead, the Virasoro-type constraint (2.37) also involves e(t, x).

If we further take the worldsheet to be flat and rescale (t, x) such that c = 1, then (2.34) becomes in form the same as the free relativistic worldsheet action

$$S_{\text{flat}} \to \frac{1}{4\pi\alpha'} \int_{\Sigma} dt \, dx \left(\partial_t X^{\mu} \, \partial_t X_{\mu} - \partial_x X^{\mu} \, \partial_x X_{\mu}\right) \tag{2.39}$$

that underlies bosonic string theory. The distinction here is that, instead of fixing the full relativistic diffeomorphisms, we fixed part of the foliation-preserving diffeomorphisms followed by the special choice  $N = \sqrt{\gamma} = 1$  to obtain (2.39). This implies that we have a rather different BRST symmetry and ghost action, which requires further studies. Therefore, the resemblance between (2.39) and the relativistic string action is only at the classical level.

#### 2.4 Time-reversal breaking and trimetricity

We mentioned earlier that the sigma model defined in (2.24) does not accommodate any Kalb-Ramond term, which explicitly breaks the time-reversal symmetry (2.15) that forbids

any terms containing both space and time derivatives. However, the time-reversal symmetry is not an essential ingredient in our formalism. Explicitly breaking the time-reversal symmetry not only enriches the worldsheet topologies, but also introduces a plethora of extra Lagrangian terms that include the Kalb-Ramond term. Each of these extra terms is an infinite sum of a series of marginal operators, invariant under the foliation-preserving diffeomorphisms and the Weyl invariance,

$$S_X^{\rm m.} = -\frac{1}{4\pi\alpha'} \int_{\Sigma} dt \, dx \, N \, d_n X^\mu \, \partial_x X^\nu \left\{ Q_{\mu\nu}(X) + B_{\mu\nu}(X) \right\} \,, \tag{2.40}$$

where  $Q_{\mu\nu}$  is a symmetric two-tensor, and  $B_{\mu\nu}$  is an antisymmetric two-tensor that plays the role of a Kalb-Ramond field. The novel Q-term arises due to the lack of local boost symmetry on the worldsheet.

Without the time-reversal symmetry, there are three extra gravitational terms that contain both temporal and spatial derivatives and transform as scalars under the foliation-preserving diffeomorphisms (2.14),

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{\gamma}}\partial_x K\,,\qquad \frac{1}{\sqrt{\gamma}}\,K\,a\,,\qquad \frac{1}{\sqrt{\gamma}}\,d_n a\,,\qquad(2.41)$$

Here,  $d_n$  acts on  $a = a_x$  as

$$d_n a = n(a) - \frac{\partial_x \left(\gamma^{-1} \chi\right)}{N} a, \qquad (2.42)$$

where n is the operator defined in (2.8). From (2.41), we form two independent Weyl invariant combinations [17],

$$S_{\text{gr.}}^{\text{mix}} = \frac{1}{\tilde{\kappa}^2} \int_{\Sigma} dt \, dx \, N \left[ (\partial_x K - K \, a) + \tilde{\alpha} \, d_n a \right] = \frac{1}{\tilde{\kappa}^2} \int_{\Sigma} dt \, dx \, \left[ \partial_t \left( \tilde{\alpha} \, a \right) + \partial_x \left( NK - \tilde{\alpha} \, \gamma^{-1} \chi \, a \right) \right] \,,$$
(2.43)

whose integrand is a total derivative. At the fixed point  $\tilde{\alpha} = 1$ ,  $S_{\text{gr.}}^{\text{mix}}$  can be written in terms of the relativistic Zweibein field  $e_{\alpha}{}^{a}$ , a = 0, 1 [17],

$$S_{\rm gr.}^{\rm mix} \to \frac{1}{2\,\tilde{\kappa}^2} \int_{\Sigma} dt \, dx \, \det(e_{\beta}{}^c) \,\epsilon_{ab} \,\nabla^{\alpha} \omega_{\alpha}{}^{ab} \,, \tag{2.44}$$

where  $\epsilon_{ab}$  is the two-dimensional Levi-Civita symbol and  $\omega_{\alpha}{}^{ab}$  is the spin connection. The integrand of (2.44) takes the form of the Weyl partner of the Lorentz anomaly [21], which, for example, is generated in conformal field theories that contain  $n_{\rm L}$  holomorphic and  $n_{\rm R}$  anti-holomorphic fermions with a mismatch  $n_{\rm L} \neq n_{\rm R}$  [22]. Coupling the topological gravity (2.43) to the worldsheet scalar  $X^{\mu}$ , we uncover the following dilaton term:

$$S_{\Phi}^{\text{mix}} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\Sigma} dt \, dx \, N\left\{ \left( \partial_x K - K \, a \right) \Phi_1(X) + d_n a \, \Phi_2(X) \right\}.$$
(2.45)

Finally, adding (2.40) and (2.45) to the time-reversal invariant action S in (2.31), we find the extended sigma model that include all marginal terms,

$$S_{\text{extended}} = S + S_X^{\text{mix}} + S_{\Phi}^{\text{mix}}$$

$$= \frac{1}{4\pi\alpha'} \int_{\Sigma} dt \, dx \, N\sqrt{\gamma} \left\{ d_n X^{\mu} \, d_n X^{\nu} \, G_{\mu\nu} \left( X \right) - \gamma^{-1} \, \partial_x X^{\mu} \, \partial_x X^{\nu} \, H_{\mu\nu} \left( X \right) \right\}$$

$$- \frac{1}{4\pi\alpha'} \int_{\Sigma} dt \, dx \, N \, d_n X^{\mu} \, \partial_x X^{\nu} \left\{ Q_{\mu\nu} \left( X \right) + B_{\mu\nu} \left( X \right) \right\}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\Sigma} dt \, dx \, N\sqrt{\gamma} \left\{ \left( K^2 + d_n K \right) \, \Phi_{\mathrm{T}} \left( X \right) - \gamma^{-1} \left( a^2 - \mathcal{D}_x a \right) \, \Phi_{\mathrm{L}} \left( X \right) \right\}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\Sigma} dt \, dx \, N \left\{ \left( \partial_x K - K a \right) \, \Phi_{\mathrm{I}} \left( X \right) + d_n a \, \Phi_{\mathrm{2}} \left( X \right) \right\} , \qquad (2.46)$$

which describes sigma model in a curved background described by three symmetric twotensor fields,  $G_{\mu\nu}$ ,  $H_{\mu\nu}$ , and  $Q_{\mu\nu}$ , one antisymmetric two-tensor,  $B_{\mu\nu}$ , and four dilaton fields,  $\Phi_{\rm T}$ ,  $\Phi_{\rm L}$ ,  $\Phi_{\rm 1}$ , and  $\Phi_{\rm 2}$ . We will not consider the quantum mechanics of this more general sigma model that includes terms breaking the time-reversal symmetry. Instead, we will focus on the simpler time-reversal invariant case (2.31) in the rest of this paper.

#### 3 Renormalization of bimetric sigma models

We are now ready to compute the beta-functionals for the background fields in the sigma model (2.33), with the time-reversal symmetry imposed. We will not consider the beta-functionals of the dilaton fields in this paper, which require a more thorough understanding of the foliated worldsheet geometry and further examinations of the Weyl anomalies on a curved worldsheet. From now on, we simply take the flat worldsheet limit by setting e = 1, which does not affect the beta-functionals of the metric fields  $G_{\mu\nu}$  and  $H_{\mu\nu}$ . We will therefore focus on the following renormalizable NLSM:

$$S_{\rm E} = \frac{1}{4\pi\alpha'} \int_{\Sigma} d\tau \, dx \left\{ \partial_{\tau} X^{\mu} \, \partial_{\tau} X^{\nu} \, G_{\mu\nu}(X) + \partial_{x} X^{\mu} \, \partial_{x} X^{\nu} \, H_{\mu\nu}(X) \right\}. \tag{3.1}$$

We have performed a Wick rotation  $t = -i\tau$  in (2.33) (together with  $S = -iS_{\rm E}$ ). Note that one is free to introduce a constant rescaling factor between the bimetric fields such that  $G_{\mu\nu} \rightarrow G_{\mu\nu}$  and  $H_{\mu\nu} \rightarrow c^2 H_{\mu\nu}$ , by rescaling the worldsheet fields and coordinates. Later in this section, we will also include the contributions from the dilaton fields to the beta-functionals of the metric fields. At the lowest order in  $\alpha'$  that we are interested in, these contributions from dilatons are purely classical as in relativistic string theory. Since we are focusing on the RG flows, which only capture local properties of the system, we can drop any total derivative terms through the calculation.

It is important to note that the action (3.1) is invariant under the following mapping:

$$\tau \longleftrightarrow x, \qquad G_{\mu\nu} \longleftrightarrow H_{\mu\nu}.$$
 (3.2)

This self-dual property has to be preserved in the resulting beta-functionals. We will use this duality frequently to guide our quantum calculations as well as a sanity check.

#### 3.1 Bimetric geometry in the target space

As a preparation for quantum calculations, we investigate some essential ingredients of the target-space bimetric geometry here. Some of these ingredients have been introduced in [23, 24].

With respect to the metric fields  $G_{\mu\nu}$  and  $H_{\mu\nu}$ , we introduce two Levi-Civita connections,  $\nabla$  and  $\Delta$ , satisfying the compatibility conditions  $\nabla_{\rho}G_{\mu\nu} = 0$  and  $\Delta_{\rho}H_{\mu\nu} = 0$ , respectively. Define the Christoffel coefficients  $\Gamma^{\rho}_{\mu\nu}$  ( $\Theta^{\rho}_{\mu\nu}$ ) associated with the connection  $\nabla_{\mu}$  ( $\Delta_{\mu}$ ),

$$\Gamma^{\rho}{}_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} G^{\rho\sigma} (\partial_{\mu} G_{\nu\sigma} + \partial_{\nu} G_{\mu\sigma} - \partial_{\sigma} G_{\mu\nu}), \qquad (3.3a)$$

$$\Theta^{\rho}{}_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} H^{\mu\nu} (\partial_{\mu} H_{\nu\sigma} + \partial_{\nu} H_{\mu\sigma} - \partial_{\sigma} H_{\mu\nu}). \qquad (3.3b)$$

Here,  $G^{\mu\nu}$   $(H^{\mu\nu})$  is the inverse of  $G_{\mu\nu}$   $(H_{\mu\nu})$ . The difference  $S^{\rho}{}_{\mu\nu}$  between these two Christoffel symbols transforms as a (1,2)-tensor, with

$$S^{\rho}{}_{\mu\nu} = \Gamma^{\rho}{}_{\mu\nu} - \Theta^{\rho}{}_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} G^{\rho\sigma} \left( \Delta_{\mu} G_{\nu\sigma} + \Delta_{\nu} G_{\mu\sigma} - \Delta_{\sigma} G_{\mu\nu} \right)$$
  
$$= -\frac{1}{2} H^{\rho\sigma} \left( \nabla_{\mu} H_{\nu\sigma} + \nabla_{\nu} H_{\mu\sigma} - \nabla_{\sigma} H_{\mu\nu} \right).$$
(3.4)

We also define the Riemann curvature tensor  $R^{\rho}_{\sigma\mu\nu}$  ( $\Sigma^{\rho}_{\sigma\mu\nu}$ ) with respect to  $\Gamma^{\rho}_{\mu\nu}$  ( $\Theta^{\rho}_{\mu\nu}$ ),

$$R^{\rho}{}_{\sigma\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}\Gamma^{\rho}{}_{\nu\sigma} - \partial_{\nu}\Gamma^{\rho}{}_{\mu\sigma} + \Gamma^{\rho}{}_{\mu\lambda}\Gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\nu\sigma} - \Gamma^{\rho}{}_{\nu\lambda}\Gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\mu\sigma}, \qquad (3.5a)$$

$$\Sigma^{\rho}{}_{\sigma\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}\Theta^{\rho}{}_{\nu\sigma} - \partial_{\nu}\Theta^{\rho}{}_{\mu\sigma} + \Theta^{\rho}{}_{\mu\lambda}\Theta^{\lambda}{}_{\nu\sigma} - \Theta^{\rho}{}_{\nu\lambda}\Theta^{\lambda}{}_{\mu\sigma} \,. \tag{3.5b}$$

The difference between the Riemann curvatures can be written in terms of the tensor  $S^{\rho}{}_{\mu\nu}$  as

$$R^{\rho}{}_{\sigma\mu\nu} - \Sigma^{\rho}{}_{\sigma\mu\nu} = \nabla_{\mu}S^{\rho}{}_{\nu\sigma} - \nabla_{\nu}S^{\rho}{}_{\mu\sigma} - S^{\rho}{}_{\mu\lambda}S^{\lambda}{}_{\nu\sigma} + S^{\rho}{}_{\nu\lambda}S^{\lambda}{}_{\mu\sigma}$$
$$= \Delta_{\mu}S^{\rho}{}_{\nu\sigma} - \Delta_{\nu}S^{\rho}{}_{\mu\sigma} + S^{\rho}{}_{\mu\lambda}S^{\lambda}{}_{\nu\sigma} - S^{\rho}{}_{\nu\lambda}S^{\lambda}{}_{\mu\sigma}.$$

With the above elements of bimetric geometry in hand, we are ready to use the covariant background field method to expand the worldsheet action (3.1), as a preparation for evaluating the one-loop effective action on the worldsheet. We first choose  $G_{\mu\nu}$  to be the reference metric, with respect to which the standard background field method can be applied. Consider a sufficiently small neighborhood  $\mathcal{O}$  of a point  $X_0^{\mu}$  in the target space  $\mathcal{M}$ . For an arbitrary point  $X^{\mu}$  in  $\mathcal{O}$ , and with respect to the reference metric field  $G_{\mu\nu}$ , there exists a unique geodesic interpolating between  $X_0^{\mu}$  and  $X^{\mu}$ , parametrized by  $Y^{\mu}(s)$ , with an affine parameter  $s \in [0, 1]$ . The geodesic equation is

$$\frac{d^2 Y^{\mu}(s)}{ds^2} + \Gamma^{\mu}{}_{\rho\sigma}[Y(s)] \frac{dY^{\rho}(s)}{ds} \frac{dY^{\sigma}(s)}{ds} = 0.$$
(3.6)

We require that  $Y^{\mu}$  satisfy the initial conditions  $Y^{\mu}(0) = X_0^{\mu}$  and  $Y^{\mu}(1) = X^{\mu}$ . Define the tangent vector along the geodesic at s = 0,

$$p^{\mu} = \frac{dY^{\mu}(s)}{ds}\Big|_{s=0},$$
 (3.7)

which constitutes a covariant quantum fluctuation. Note that d/ds commutes with the worldsheet derivative  $\partial_{\alpha}$ ,  $\alpha = \tau, x$ . It is also useful to introduce a covariant derivative  $\nabla_s$  with respect to the affine parameter s such that, for a covariant vector  $u^{\mu}$  and a contravariant vector  $v_{\mu}$ ,

$$\nabla_{\!s} u^{\mu} = \frac{du^{\mu}}{ds} + \Gamma^{\mu}_{\ \rho\sigma} u^{\rho} \frac{dY^{\sigma}}{ds}, \qquad \nabla_{\!s} v_{\mu} = \frac{dv_{\mu}}{ds} - \Gamma^{\rho}_{\ \mu\sigma} v_{\rho} \frac{dY^{\sigma}}{ds}. \tag{3.8}$$

Together with (3.6), we have [25]

$$\nabla_s \partial_\alpha Y^\mu = \nabla_\alpha \frac{dY^\mu}{ds}, \qquad \nabla_s \frac{dY^\mu}{ds} = 0,$$
 (3.9a)

$$\left[\nabla_{s}, \nabla_{\alpha}\right] \frac{dY^{\mu}}{ds} = \partial_{\alpha} Y^{\nu} R^{\mu}{}_{\rho\sigma\nu} [Y] \frac{dY^{\rho}}{ds} \frac{dY^{\sigma}}{ds} .$$
(3.9b)

Furthermore, in parallel with (3.8), we define the covariant derivative  $\Delta_s$  via

$$\Delta_s u^{\mu} = \frac{dv^{\mu}}{ds} + \Theta^{\mu}{}_{\rho\sigma} u^{\rho} \frac{dY^{\sigma}}{ds}, \qquad \Delta_s v_{\mu} = \frac{dv_{\mu}}{ds} - \Theta^{\rho}{}_{\mu\sigma} v_{\rho} \frac{dY^{\sigma}}{ds}.$$
(3.10)

The analogues of the relations in (3.9) are

$$\Delta_s \,\partial_\alpha Y^\mu = \Delta_\alpha \frac{dY^\mu}{ds} \,, \qquad \Delta_s \frac{dY^\mu}{ds} = -S^\mu{}_{\rho\sigma}[Y] \,\frac{dY^\rho}{ds} \,\frac{dY^\sigma}{ds} \,, \tag{3.11a}$$

$$\left[\Delta_s, \Delta_\alpha\right] \frac{dY^\mu}{ds} = \partial_\alpha Y^\nu \,\Sigma^\mu{}_{\rho\sigma\nu}[Y] \,\frac{dY^\rho}{ds} \,\frac{dY^\sigma}{ds} \,. \tag{3.11b}$$

Alternatively, we can choose  $H_{\mu\nu}$  instead of  $G_{\mu\nu}$  to be the reference metric, which must be equivalent when any physical observable is concerned. There also exists a unique geodesic interpolating between  $X_0^{\mu}$  and  $X^{\mu}$  and parametrized by  $Z^{\mu}(r)$ , defined with respect to  $H_{\mu\nu}$  and an affine parameter  $r \in [0, 1]$ , such that

$$\frac{d^2 Z^{\mu}(r)}{dr^2} + \Theta^{\mu}{}_{\rho\sigma}[Z(r)] \frac{dZ^{\rho}(r)}{dr} \frac{dZ^{\sigma}(r)}{dr} = 0.$$
(3.12)

The initial conditions are  $Z^{\mu}(0) = X_0^{\mu}$  and  $Z^{\mu}(1) = X^{\mu}$ . The tangent vector along the geodesic at r = 0 is

$$q^{\mu} = \frac{dZ^{\mu}(r)}{dr}\Big|_{r=0}.$$
(3.13)

Up to second order in r, the solution of Z(r) to the geodesic equation (3.12) is

$$Z^{\mu}(r) = Z^{\mu}(0) + r q^{\mu} - \frac{1}{2} r^2 \Theta^{\mu}{}_{\rho\sigma} q^{\rho} q^{\sigma} + O\left(q^3\right).$$
(3.14)

Setting r = 1, we find

$$X^{\mu} = X^{\mu}_{0} + q^{\mu} - \frac{1}{2} \Theta^{\mu}{}_{\rho\sigma} q^{\rho} q^{\sigma} + O\left(q^{3}\right).$$
(3.15)

Similarly, from (3.6) we obtain

$$X^{\mu} = X^{\mu}_{0} + p^{\mu} - \frac{1}{2} \Gamma^{\mu}_{\ \rho\sigma} p^{\rho} p^{\sigma} + O\left(p^{3}\right).$$
(3.16)

Using (3.15) and (3.16), we find the following relation between the vectors  $p^{\mu}$  and  $q^{\mu}$  that are tangent at  $X_0^{\mu}$  to the geodesics defined respectively with respect to the connections  $\Gamma$  and  $\Theta$ :

$$q^{\mu} = p^{\mu} - \frac{1}{2} S^{\mu}{}_{\rho\sigma} p^{\rho} p^{\sigma} + O\left(p^{3}\right) .$$
(3.17)

In the following, we will use the definitions and relations above to perform a covariant expansion of (3.1) around  $X_0^{\mu}$ .

#### 3.2 Bimetric covariant expansions

Now, we return to the action (3.1) and expand it around  $X_0^{\mu}$ , with respect to the reference metric  $G_{\mu\nu}$  and the quantum fluctuation  $p^{\mu}$  defined in (3.7). To facilitate this calculation, we define the interpolating Lagrangian,

$$\mathcal{L}(s) = \frac{1}{4\pi\alpha'} \Big\{ \partial_\tau Y^\mu(s) \,\partial_\tau Y^\nu(s) \,G_{\mu\nu}[Y(s)] + \partial_x Y^\mu(s) \,\partial_x Y^\nu(s) \,H_{\mu\nu}[Y(s)] \Big\} \,. \tag{3.18}$$

For conveniency, we set  $\alpha' = 1/(2\pi)$ . It follows that,

$$\frac{d\mathcal{L}(s)}{ds}\Big|_{s=0} = \frac{1}{2} \nabla_s \left(\partial_\tau Y^\mu \,\partial_\tau Y^\nu \,G_{\mu\nu}\right) + \frac{1}{2} \Delta_s \left(\partial_x Y^\mu \,\partial_x Y^\nu \,H_{\mu\nu}\right)\Big|_{s=0} 
= \partial_\tau X_0^\mu \,\nabla_\tau p^\nu \,G_{\mu\nu} + \partial_x X_0^\mu \,\Delta_x p^\nu \,H_{\mu\nu},$$
(3.19a)

$$\frac{d^{2}\mathcal{L}(s)}{ds^{2}}\Big|_{s=0} = \nabla_{s} \left(\partial_{\tau}Y^{\mu} \nabla_{\tau} \frac{dY^{\nu}}{ds} G_{\mu\nu}\right) + \Delta_{s} \left(\partial_{x}Y^{\mu} \Delta_{x} \frac{dY^{\nu}}{ds} H_{\mu\nu}\right)\Big|_{s=0} 
= G_{\rho\sigma} \nabla_{\tau} p^{\rho} \nabla_{\tau} p^{\sigma} + \left(G_{\mu\lambda} R^{\lambda}{}_{\rho\sigma\nu} \partial_{\tau} X^{\mu}_{0} \partial_{\tau} X^{\nu}_{0}\right) p^{\rho} p^{\sigma} 
+ H_{\rho\sigma} \Delta_{x} p^{\rho} \Delta_{x} p^{\sigma} + \left(H_{\mu\lambda} \Sigma^{\lambda}{}_{\rho\sigma\nu} \partial_{x} X^{\mu}_{0} \partial_{x} X^{\nu}_{0}\right) p^{\rho} p^{\sigma} 
- H_{\mu\lambda} \partial_{x} X^{\mu}_{0} \Delta_{x} \left(S^{\lambda}{}_{\rho\sigma} p^{\rho} p^{\sigma}\right).$$
(3.19b)

Therefore,

$$\mathcal{L}(s) = \mathcal{L}(0) + \frac{d\mathcal{L}(s)}{ds}\Big|_{s=0} s + \frac{1}{2} \frac{d^2 \mathcal{L}(s)}{ds^2}\Big|_{s=0} s^2 + O\left(s^3\right).$$
(3.20)

Setting s = 1, we find that the covariant expansion of the action (3.1) with respect to the quantum fluctuation  $p^{\mu}$  is given by

$$S_{\rm E} = S^{(0)} + S^{(1)} + S^{(2)} + O\left(p^3\right), \qquad (3.21)$$

where

$$S^{(0)} = \frac{1}{2} \int d\tau \, dx \, \left( G_{\mu\nu} \, \partial_{\tau} X_0^{\mu} \, \partial_{\tau} X_0^{\nu} + H_{\mu\nu} \, \partial_x X_0^{\mu} \, \partial_x X_0^{\nu} \right) \,, \tag{3.22a}$$

$$S^{(1)} = -\int d\tau \, dx \, \left(G_{\mu\rho} \nabla_{\tau} \partial_{\tau} X_0^{\mu} + H_{\mu\rho} \, \Delta_x \partial_x X_0^{\mu}\right) \, p^{\rho} \,, \qquad (3.22b)$$

$$S^{(2)} = \frac{1}{2} \int d\tau \, dx \, p^{\rho} \bigg[ -G_{\rho\sigma} \nabla_{\tau}^{2} + G_{\mu\lambda} R^{\lambda}{}_{\rho\sigma\nu} \partial_{\tau} X_{0}^{\mu} \partial_{\tau} X_{0}^{\nu} - H_{\rho\sigma} \Delta_{x}^{2} + H_{\mu\lambda} \big( \Sigma^{\lambda}{}_{\rho\sigma\nu} \partial_{x} X_{0}^{\mu} \partial_{x} X_{0}^{\nu} + S^{\lambda}{}_{\rho\sigma} \Delta_{x} \partial_{x} X_{0}^{\mu} \big) \bigg] p^{\sigma}. \quad (3.22c)$$

Note that we have performed a series of integrations by parts to get (3.21). The couplings are understood to be functionals of the background field  $X_0$ , satisfing the equation of motion

$$\frac{\delta S^{(1)}}{\delta p^{\rho}} = 0 \quad \Longrightarrow \quad G_{\rho\mu} \nabla_{\tau} \partial_{\tau} X_0^{\mu} + H_{\rho\mu} \Delta_x \partial_x X_0^{\mu} = 0.$$
(3.23)

Note that the covariant expansion (3.21) defined with respect to the reference metric  $G_{\mu\nu}$  can be transformed to be the one defined with respect to the reference metric  $H_{\mu\nu}$  by applying the self-dual mapping (3.2), supplemented with the following derived rules:

$$\nabla_{\mu} \longrightarrow \Delta_{\mu}, \qquad R^{\mu}{}_{\rho\sigma\nu} \longrightarrow \Sigma^{\mu}{}_{\rho\sigma\nu}, \qquad S^{\mu}{}_{\rho\sigma} \longrightarrow -S^{\mu}{}_{\rho\sigma}, \qquad p^{\mu} \longrightarrow q^{\mu}.$$
 (3.24)

Recall that  $q^{\mu}$  is the quantum fluctuation defined in (3.13) with respect to the geodesic associated with the metric  $H_{\mu\nu}$ . This does not suffice our need for a manifestly self-dual formula: since the supplementary duality transformations in (3.24) also act nontrivially on the quantum fluctuations  $p^{\mu}$  and  $q^{\mu}$ , choosing to integrate out either  $p^{\mu}$  or  $q^{\mu}$  will lead to beta-functionals that do not manifest the self-dual transformations. This drawback can be circumvented by taking the change of variables,

$$p^{\mu} = \ell^{\mu} + \frac{1}{4} S^{\mu}{}_{\rho\sigma} \,\ell^{\rho} \,\ell^{\sigma} + O\left(\ell^{3}\right) \,. \tag{3.25}$$

Together with (3.17), we find

$$\ell^{\mu} = p^{\mu} - \frac{1}{4} S^{\mu}{}_{\rho\sigma} p^{\rho} p^{\sigma} + O\left(p^{3}\right) = q^{\mu} + \frac{1}{4} S^{\mu}{}_{\rho\sigma} q^{\rho} q^{\sigma} + O\left(q^{3}\right), \qquad (3.26)$$

and it is evident that  $\ell$  is invariant under the transformation (3.24). Integrating  $\ell^{\mu}$  out will then lead to a self-dual one-loop effective action as desired. Comparing (3.25) with (3.15) and the definition of  $p^{\mu}$  in (3.7), we find that  $\ell^{\mu}$  is the tangent vector at u = 0 along the geodesic parametrized by an affine parameter u, satisfying the geodesic equation,

$$\frac{d^{2}U^{\mu}(u)}{du^{2}} + \frac{1}{2} \left( \Gamma^{\mu}{}_{\rho\sigma} \left[ U(u) \right] + \Theta^{\mu}{}_{\rho\sigma} \left[ U(u) \right] \right) \frac{dU^{\rho}(u)}{du} \frac{dU^{\sigma}(u)}{du} = 0, \qquad (3.27)$$

with  $U^{\mu}(0) = X_0^{\mu}$  and  $U^{\mu}(1) = X^{\mu}$ . The solution to the geodesic equation (3.27) is

$$U^{\mu}(u) = X_{0}^{\mu} + u \,\ell^{\mu} - \frac{1}{4} \,u^{2} \,\left(\Gamma^{\mu}{}_{\rho\sigma} + \Theta^{\mu}{}_{\rho\sigma}\right) \,\ell^{\rho} \,\ell^{\sigma} + O\left(\ell^{3}\right) \,. \tag{3.28}$$

Setting u = 1 in (3.28), we find

$$X^{\mu} = X^{\mu}_{0} + \ell^{\mu} - \frac{1}{4} \left( \Gamma^{\mu}_{\ \rho\sigma} + \Theta^{\mu}_{\ \rho\sigma} \right) \ell^{\rho} \ell^{\sigma} + O\left(\ell^{3}\right) .$$
(3.29)

Comparing with (3.16), we recover the defining relation (3.25).

In terms of the new variable  $\ell^{\mu}$ , we find that (3.21) becomes

$$S_{\rm E} = S^{(0)} + \tilde{S}^{(1)} + \tilde{S}^{(2)} + O\left(\ell^3\right), \qquad (3.30)$$

with

$$\widetilde{S}^{(1)} = -\int d\tau \, dx \left( G_{\mu\rho} \nabla_{\tau} \partial_{\tau} X_0^{\mu} + H_{\mu\rho} \, \Delta_x \partial_x X_0^{\mu} \right) \ell^{\rho} \,, \tag{3.31a}$$

$$\widetilde{S}^{(2)} = \frac{1}{2} \int d\tau \, dx \, \ell^{\rho} \, \mathcal{O}_{\rho\sigma} \, \ell^{\sigma}. \tag{3.31b}$$

We have defined

$$\mathcal{O}_{\rho\sigma} \equiv -G_{\rho\sigma} \nabla_{\tau}^2 - H_{\rho\sigma} \Delta_x^2 + V_{\rho\sigma} , \qquad (3.32)$$

and

$$V_{\rho\sigma} \equiv G_{\mu\lambda} \left( R^{\lambda}{}_{(\rho\sigma)\nu} \partial_{\tau} X^{\mu}_{0} \partial_{\tau} X^{\nu}_{0} - \frac{1}{2} S^{\lambda}{}_{\rho\sigma} \nabla_{\tau} \partial_{\tau} X^{\mu}_{0} \right) + H_{\mu\lambda} \left( \Sigma^{\lambda}{}_{(\rho\sigma)\nu} \partial_{x} X^{\mu}_{0} \partial_{x} X^{\nu}_{0} + \frac{1}{2} S^{\lambda}{}_{\rho\sigma} \Delta_{x} \partial_{x} X^{\mu}_{0} \right).$$

$$(3.33)$$

Note that the operator  $\mathcal{O}_{\mu\nu}$  depends on the coordinates  $(\tau, x)$  and the covariant derivatives  $\nabla_{\tau}$  and  $\Delta_x$ . Moreover,  $\mathcal{O}_{\mu\nu} = \mathcal{O}_{\nu\mu}$  and  $V_{\mu\nu} = V_{\nu\mu}$ . In the following, we will derive the one-loop effective action by integrating out the fluctuation  $\ell^{\mu}$  in the path integral.

#### 3.3 Heat kernel method for bimetric sigma models

We are now ready to use the heat kernel method to compute the one-loop effective action associated with the sigma model (3.1). We start with defining the effective action. Then, we will review some essential ingredients in the standard heat kernel method [26–28] and discuss in detail how it is applied to our sigma model in a bimetric spacetime.

#### **3.3.1** Heat kernel representation of the effective action

We start with a quick review of the heat kernel method and derive the general form of the effective action, following [26–30] but with adaptions to the bimetric sigma models. First, we define the associated path integral for the covariantly expanded action (3.30), with respect to a reference metric  $G_{\mu\nu}[X_0]$ ,

$$\mathcal{Z} = \int d\ell^{\mu} \sqrt{-G[X_0]} \, \exp\left(-S_{\rm E}(X) + \int d\tau \, dx \, J_{\mu} \, \ell^{\mu}\right). \tag{3.34}$$

Even though we chose to define the measure in the path integral with respect to the reference metric  $G_{\mu\nu}[X_0]$  with  $G \equiv \det(G_{\mu\nu})$ , it does not give  $G_{\mu\nu}$  any privileges in physical results as long as we integrate out all configurations of the quantum fluctuation. Later on, we will see explicitly that this choice preserves the self-dual property (3.2) in the final beta-functionals. Choosing the background value  $X_0$  such that  $J_{\mu} = \delta \tilde{S}^{(1)}/\delta \ell^{\mu}$ , in the semi-classical limit, the path integral is approximated by

$$\mathcal{Z}[J] \propto \sqrt{-G[X_0]} \ \left(\det \mathcal{O}_{\mu\nu}\right)^{-1/2} e^{-S^{(0)}} \propto \exp\left(-S^{(0)} - \hbar \Gamma_{1\text{-loop}} + O\left(\hbar^2\right)\right), \quad (3.35)$$

where the one-loop effective action is

$$\Gamma_{1-\text{loop}} = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} \log \left( \mathcal{O}_{\mu\rho} \, G^{\rho\nu} / \mu^2 \right) = -\frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{ds} \Big|_{s=0} \frac{m_{\text{IR}}^{2s}}{\Gamma(s)} \int d\tau \, dx \int_0^\infty do \, o^{s-1} \, \mathcal{K}_{\mu}{}^{\mu} \left( \{\tau, x\}, \{\tau, x\} | o \right) \,.$$
(3.36)

Here,  $G^{\mu\nu}$  is the inverse of  $G_{\mu\nu}$  and  $m_{\rm IR}$  is an infrared (IR) cutoff. Note that  $\mathcal{O}_{\mu\nu}$  and  $G^{\mu\nu}$  depend on the background value  $X_0$  instead of X. We have defined the "off-diagonal" heat kernel

$$\mathcal{K}_{\mu}{}^{\nu}(\tau, x; \tau_0, x_0 | o) = \langle \tau, x | \exp(-o \mathcal{O}_{\mu\rho} G^{\rho\nu}) | \tau_0, x_0 \rangle, \qquad (3.37)$$

which is a solution to the heat kernel equation,

$$\left(\delta^{\sigma}_{\mu}\partial_{o} + \mathcal{O}_{\mu\rho}G^{\rho\sigma}\right)\mathcal{K}_{\sigma}{}^{\nu}(\tau, x; \tau_{0}, x_{0}|o) = 0.$$
(3.38)

It is useful to introduce the resolvent,  $(\mathcal{O} G^{-1} - \lambda \mathbb{1})^{-1}$ , using which we further rewrite the heat kernel (3.37) as

$$\mathcal{K}_{\mu}^{\nu}(\tau, x; \tau_0, x_0 | o) = \int_{\mathcal{C}} \frac{i \, d\lambda}{2\pi} \, e^{-o \,\lambda} \, \mathcal{G}_{\mu}^{\nu}(\tau, x; \tau_0, x_0 | \lambda) \,, \tag{3.39}$$

where C is a contour that bounds the spectrum of the operator O in the complex plane and is traversed in the counter-clockwise direction, and

$$\mathcal{G}_{\mu}^{\nu}(\tau, x; \tau_{0}, x_{0}|\lambda) \equiv \langle \tau, x | \left( \mathcal{O}_{\mu\rho} G^{\rho\nu} - \lambda \, \delta^{\nu}_{\mu} \right)^{-1} | \tau_{0}, x_{0} \rangle$$

$$= \int \frac{d\omega \, dk}{(2\pi)^{2}} e^{i\omega(\tau - \tau_{0}) + i\kappa(x - x_{0})} \, \sigma_{\mu}^{\nu}(\tau, x; \{\tau_{0}, x_{0}\}, \{\omega, \kappa\} | \lambda) \,.$$
(3.40)

We have introduced  $\sigma_{\mu}{}^{\nu}$  as the *symbol* of the resolvent, which essentially represents the Fourier modes of the resolvent.<sup>6</sup> By definition,

$$\left[\mathcal{O}_{\mu\rho}(\tau,x;\nabla_{\tau},\Delta_x)\,G^{\rho\sigma}(\tau,x)-\lambda\,\delta^{\sigma}_{\mu}\right]\mathcal{G}_{\sigma}^{\ \nu}(\tau,x;\tau_0\,,x_0|\lambda)=\delta(\tau-\tau_0)\,\delta(x-x_0)\,\delta^{\nu}_{\mu}\,.$$
 (3.41)

Note that the derivatives only act on the first index of  $\mathcal{G}_{\mu}{}^{\nu}$ . Plugging (3.41) back into (3.40), we find

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{O}_{\mu\rho}(\tau, x; \nabla_{\tau} + i\,\omega, \Delta_x + i\,\kappa) - \lambda \,G_{\mu\rho}(\tau, x) \end{bmatrix} \sigma^{\rho\nu}(\tau, x; \{\tau_0, x_0\}, \{\omega, \kappa\} | \lambda) \\ = I_{\mu}^{\ \nu}(\tau, x; \tau_0, x_0) \,. \tag{3.42}$$

We have defined  $\sigma^{\mu\nu} \equiv G^{\mu\rho} \sigma_{\rho}{}^{\nu}$ . Also note that only the covariant derivatives in  $\mathcal{O}$  that act directly on  $\sigma^{\mu\nu}$  are shifted by  $i\omega$  or  $i\kappa$  in (3.42). Moreoever, the bi-function  $I_{\mu}{}^{\nu}(\tau, x; \tau_0, x_0)$  is required to satisfy the following conditions in the coincidence limit  $\tau \to \tau_0$  and  $x \to x_0$ :

$$I_{\mu}{}^{\nu}(\tau_0, x_0; \tau_0, x_0) = \delta_{\mu}^{\nu}, \qquad (3.43)$$

and

$$\nabla_{\tau}^{k} \Delta_{x}^{\ell} I_{\mu}{}^{\nu}(\tau, x; \tau_{0}, x_{0}) \big|_{\tau=\tau_{0}, x=x_{0}} = 0, \qquad k+\ell \ge 1.$$
(3.44)

Consequently, quantities such as  $\Delta_x \nabla_\tau I_{\mu}^{\nu}$  typically have a nonzero coincidence limit.

The traced heat kernel that only depends on  $\tau_0$  and  $x_0$  has the following asymptotic expansion around  $o \to 0^+$  [26]:

$$\mathcal{K}_{\mu}{}^{\mu}(\tau_0, x_0; \tau_0, x_0 | o) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} E_m(\tau_0, x_0) \, o^{\frac{m}{2} - 1} \,. \tag{3.45}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>On a curved worldsheet, there exists a covariant generalization of the phase function  $e^{i \omega(\tau - \tau_0) + i \kappa(x-x_0)}$ adapted to the foliation, defined using the symbolic calculus of pseudodifferential operators [28, 30, 31]. We will not need this covariant generalization of the phase function in this paper, but it will play an important role when it comes to the beta-functionals of the dilaton fields.

To compute the heat kernel coefficients  $E_m$ , we expand the symbol  $\sigma^{\mu\nu}$  as

$$\sigma = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \sigma_m \,, \tag{3.46}$$

where, in the coincidence limit,  $\sigma_m$  is a homogeneous function of  $\lambda$ ,  $\tau$ , and x, with

$$\sigma_m\left(\tau_0, x_0; \{\tau_0, x_0\}, \{b\,\omega, b\,\kappa\} \mid b^2\,\lambda\right) = b^{-m-2}\,\sigma_m\left(\tau_0, x_0; \{\tau_0, x_0\}, \{\omega, \kappa\} \mid \lambda\right) \,. \tag{3.47}$$

This motivates us to consider the following formal rescalings in (3.42):

$$\omega \to \varepsilon \omega, \quad \kappa \to \varepsilon \kappa, \quad \lambda \to \varepsilon^2 \lambda, \quad \sigma_m \to \varepsilon^{-m-2} \sigma_m.$$
 (3.48)

It follows that

$$\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \left[ \mathcal{O}_{\mu\rho} \left( \tau, x \, ; \, \nabla_{\tau} + i \, b \, \omega, \Delta_x + i \, b \, \kappa \right) - b^2 \, \lambda \, G_{\mu\rho} \left( \tau, x \right) \right] \\ \times b^{-m-2} \, \sigma_m^{\rho\nu} \left( \tau, x \, ; \left\{ \tau_0 \, , x_0 \right\} \, , \left\{ \omega, \kappa \right\} \left| \lambda \right) = I_{\mu}^{\ \nu} \left( \tau, x \, ; \tau_0 \, , x_0 \right) \, , \tag{3.49}$$

from which the coefficients  $\sigma_m$  can be determined recusively by matching terms of different orders in b. Taking the coincidence limit  $\tau \to \tau_0$  and  $x \to x_0$  in (3.39), together with the rescalings,

$$\lambda \to o^{-1} \lambda, \qquad \omega \to o^{-1/2} \omega, \qquad \kappa \to o^{-1/2} \kappa,$$
(3.50)

we find

$$\mathcal{K}_{\mu}{}^{\nu}\left(\tau_{0}, x_{0}; \tau_{0}, x_{0} | o\right) = o^{-2} \int_{\mathcal{C}} \frac{i \, d\lambda}{2\pi} \, e^{-\lambda} \int \frac{d\omega \, dk}{\left(2\pi\right)^{2}} \, \sigma_{\mu}{}^{\nu}\left(\tau_{0}, x_{0}; \{\tau_{0}, x_{0}\}, \left\{o^{-1/2} \, \omega, o^{-1/2} \, \kappa\right\} | \, o^{-1} \lambda\right). \tag{3.51}$$

Plugging (3.45) and (3.47) into (3.51), and matching terms of different orders in o, we find

$$E_m(\tau, x) = \int \frac{d\omega \, dk}{(2\pi)^2} \int_{\mathcal{C}} \frac{i \, d\lambda}{2\pi} \, e^{-\lambda} \, G_{\mu\nu}(\tau, x) \, \sigma_m^{\mu\nu}(\tau, x; \{\tau, x\}, \{\omega, \kappa\} | \lambda) \,. \tag{3.52}$$

On the other hand, plugging (3.45) into the effective action (3.36), regularized as

$$\Gamma_{1-\text{loop}} = -\frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{ds} \Big|_{s=0} \frac{m_{\text{IR}}^{2s}}{\Gamma(s)} \int d\tau \, dx \int_0^{1/\Lambda^2} do \, o^{s-1} \, \mathcal{K}_{\mu}{}^{\mu} \big(\{\tau, x\}, \{\tau, x\} | o\big) \,, \tag{3.53}$$

we find

$$\Gamma_{1-\text{loop}} = \frac{1}{2} \int d\tau \, dx \left\{ E_0 \Lambda^2 + 2 E_1 \Lambda + E_2 \log\left(\frac{\Lambda^2}{m_{\text{IR}}^2}\right) + \text{finite} \right\}. \tag{3.54}$$

Clearly, the heat kernel coefficient  $E_2$  contributes the log divergence in the one-loop effective action (3.54). This log divergence is associated with the beta-functionals of various couplings in the sigma model. The power-law divergences can be set to zero by choosing appropriate counterterms.

#### 3.3.2 Solving the recursion relations

Now, we compute the coincidence limit of the symbol  $\sigma_2^{\mu\nu}$ , from which we will be able to read off the beta-functionals by using (3.52). Using the explicit expression for  $\mathcal{O}$  in (3.32), we find

$$\mathcal{O}_{\mu\nu} \left(\tau, x ; \nabla_{\tau} + i b \,\omega, \Delta_x + i b \,\kappa\right) - b^2 \lambda \,G_{\mu\nu} = -G_{\mu\nu} \left(\nabla_{\tau} + i b \,\omega\right)^2 - H_{\mu\nu} \left(\Delta_x + i b \,\kappa\right)^2 + V_{\mu\nu} - b^2 \lambda \,G_{\mu\nu} = b^2 \mathcal{A}_{\mu\nu} - 2 \,i b \left(\omega \,G_{\mu\nu} \nabla_{\tau} + \kappa \,H_{\mu\nu} \,\Delta_x\right) - \left(G_{\mu\nu} \nabla_{\tau}^2 + H_{\mu\nu} \,\Delta_x^2 - V_{\mu\nu}\right) ,$$
(3.55)

where we defined

$$\mathcal{A}_{\mu\nu} \equiv \left(\omega^2 - \lambda\right) G_{\mu\nu} + \kappa^2 H_{\mu\nu} \,. \tag{3.56}$$

Plugging (3.55) into (3.49), we find the following recursion relations:

$$A_{\mu\rho} \sigma_0^{\rho\nu} = I_{\mu}^{\ \nu}, \quad (3.57a)$$

$$\mathcal{A}_{\mu\rho}\,\sigma_1^{\rho\nu} - 2\,i\left(\omega\,G_{\mu\rho}\nabla_{\tau} + \kappa\,H_{\mu\rho}\,\Delta_x\right)\sigma_0^{\rho\nu} = 0\,,\qquad(3.57\mathrm{b})$$

$$\mathcal{A}_{\mu\rho}\,\sigma_2^{\rho\nu} - 2\,i\left(\omega\,G_{\mu\rho}\nabla_\tau + \kappa\,H_{\mu\rho}\,\Delta_x\right)\sigma_1^{\rho\nu} - \left(G_{\mu\rho}\nabla_\tau^2 + H_{\mu\rho}\,\Delta_x^2 - V_{\mu\rho}\right)\sigma_0^{\rho\nu} = 0\,. \tag{3.57c}$$

There is also an infinite hierarchy of recursion relations that involve  $\sigma_m$ , m > 2, which we will *not* need in this paper. We denote the coincidence limit of an object  $Q(\tau, x; \tau_0, x_0)$  by  $[Q] \equiv Q(\tau_0, x_0; \tau_0, x_0)$ . Using (3.43), we find from (3.57) that

$$[\sigma_0^{\mu\nu}] = \mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu},\tag{3.58a}$$

$$[\sigma_1^{\mu\nu}] = 2 \, i \, \mathcal{D}^{\mu\rho} \left( \omega \, G_{\rho\sigma} \left[ \nabla_{\tau} \sigma_0^{\sigma\nu} \right] + \kappa \, H_{\rho\sigma} \left[ \Delta_x \sigma_0^{\sigma\nu} \right] \right) \,, \tag{3.58b}$$

$$[\sigma_2^{\mu\nu}] = \mathcal{D}^{\mu\rho} \left[ 2 i \left( \omega \, G_{\rho\sigma} \left[ \nabla_{\tau} \sigma_1^{\sigma\nu} \right] + \kappa \, H_{\mu\rho} \left[ \Delta_x \sigma_1^{\sigma\nu} \right] \right) + G_{\rho\sigma} \left[ \nabla_{\tau}^2 \sigma_0^{\sigma\nu} \right] + H_{\rho\sigma} \left[ \Delta_x^2 \sigma_0^{\sigma\nu} \right] \right]$$

$$- \mathcal{D}^{\mu\rho} \, \mathcal{D}^{\nu\sigma} \, V_{\rho\sigma} \,.$$

$$(3.58c)$$

Here,  $\mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu}$  is the inverse of  $\mathcal{A}_{\mu\nu}$ , satisfying  $\mathcal{D}^{\mu\rho}\mathcal{A}_{\rho\nu} = \delta^{\mu}_{\nu}$ . Recall that we are interested in the heat kernel coefficient  $E_2$  defined in (3.52), which is determined by  $\sigma_2^{\mu\nu}$  and gives rise to the log divergence in the one-loop effective action (3.54). Further note that  $E_2$ involves integrations over the frequency  $\omega$  and momentum  $\kappa$ , and only receives nonzero contributions from terms in  $[\sigma_2^{\mu\nu}]$  that are even in both  $\omega$  and  $\kappa$ . According to (3.58c), this implies that we only need to keep terms in  $[\nabla_{\tau}\sigma_1^{\mu\nu}]$  that are odd in  $\omega$  but even in  $\kappa$ , and terms in  $[\Delta_x \sigma_1^{\sigma\nu}]$  that are odd in  $\kappa$  and even in  $\omega$ . This observation brings some simplification in the calculation, which we will come back to momentarily.

From the recursion relations in (3.57), we compute the coincidence limits for expressions that involve  $\sigma_m^{\mu\nu}$ . We first introduce the simplifying notation,

$$\Omega^2 \equiv \omega^2 - \lambda, \qquad (H_\tau)^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \equiv \mathcal{D}^{\mu\rho} \nabla_{\tau} H_{\rho\nu}, \qquad (H_{\tau\tau})^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \equiv \mathcal{D}^{\mu\rho} \nabla_{\tau}^2 H_{\rho\nu}, \quad (3.59a)$$

$$(G_x)^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \equiv \mathcal{D}^{\mu\rho} \Delta_x G_{\rho\nu} , \qquad (G_{xx})^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \equiv \mathcal{D}^{\mu\rho} \Delta_x^2 G_{\rho\nu} .$$
(3.59b)

We also denote

$$\widetilde{G}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \equiv \mathcal{D}^{\mu\rho} G_{\rho\nu} , \qquad \widetilde{H}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \equiv \mathcal{D}^{\mu\rho} H_{\rho\nu} . \qquad (3.60)$$

In terms of the above definitions, it follows from (3.57) that

$$[\nabla_{\tau}\sigma_0] = -\kappa^2 H_{\tau} \mathcal{D}, \qquad (3.61a)$$

$$[\Delta_x \sigma_0] = -\Omega^2 G_x \mathcal{D}, \qquad (3.61b)$$

$$\left[\nabla_{\tau}^{2}\sigma_{0}\right] = \left(2\kappa^{4}H_{\tau}^{2} - \kappa^{2}H_{\tau\tau}\right)\mathcal{D},\qquad(3.61c)$$

$$\left[\Delta_x^2 \sigma_0\right] = \left(2\,\Omega^4 \,G_x^2 - \Omega^2 \,G_{xx}\right)\,\mathcal{D}\,,\tag{3.61d}$$

$$[\sigma_1] = -2i \left( \omega \,\kappa^2 \,\widetilde{G} \,H_\tau + \kappa \,\Omega^2 \,\widetilde{H} \,G_x \right) \,\mathcal{D}\,, \qquad (3.61e)$$

$$[\nabla_{\tau}\sigma_1] \sim 2\,i\,\omega\left(\kappa^4\,H_{\tau}\,\widetilde{G}\,H_{\tau} + 2\,\kappa^4\,\widetilde{G}\,H_{\tau}^2 - \kappa^2\,\widetilde{G}\,H_{\tau\tau}\right)\,\mathcal{D}\,,\qquad(3.61f)$$

$$[\Delta_x \sigma_1] \sim 2 \, i \, \kappa \left( \Omega^4 \, G_x \, \widetilde{H} \, G_x + 2 \, \Omega^4 \, \widetilde{H} \, G_x^2 - \Omega^2 \, \widetilde{H} \, G_{xx} \right) \, \mathcal{D} \,. \tag{3.61g}$$

Note that  $\sigma_m$  and  $\mathcal{D}$  here carry raised indices, i.e.  $\sigma_m = (\sigma_m^{\mu\nu})$  and  $\mathcal{D} = (\mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu})$ . We have omitted terms in the expressions of  $[\nabla_{\tau}\sigma_1]$  that are even in  $\omega$  and odd in  $\kappa$ ; we also have omitted the terms in the expressions of  $[\Delta_x\sigma_1]$  that are even in  $\kappa$  and odd in  $\omega$ . These omitted terms do not make any contribution to the heat kernel coefficient  $E_2$ . We did not record the expressions  $[\Delta_x\nabla_{\tau}\sigma_0]$  and  $[\nabla_{\tau}\Delta_x\sigma_0]$ , since they only contribute terms that we omit in  $[\nabla_{\tau}\sigma_1]$  and  $[\Delta_x\sigma_1]$ . Finally, plugging (3.61) into (3.58c), we find

$$\begin{aligned} [\sigma_2] &= 2i \left( \omega \, \widetilde{G} \, [\nabla_\tau \sigma_1] + \kappa \, \widetilde{H} \, [\Delta_x \sigma_1] \right) + \widetilde{G} \, \left[ \nabla_\tau^2 \sigma_0 \right] + \widetilde{H} \, \left[ \Delta_x^2 \sigma_0 \right] - \mathcal{D} V \mathcal{D} \\ &\sim \left[ -4 \, \omega^2 \, \kappa^4 \, \left( \widetilde{G} \, H_\tau \right)^2 - 8 \, \omega^2 \, \kappa^4 \, \widetilde{G}^2 \, H_\tau^2 + 4 \, \omega^2 \, \kappa^2 \, \widetilde{G}^2 \, H_{\tau\tau} \right. \\ &- 4 \, \kappa^2 \, \Omega^4 \, \left( \widetilde{H} \, G_x \right)^2 - 8 \, \kappa^2 \, \Omega^4 \, \widetilde{H}^2 \, G_x^2 + 4 \, \kappa^2 \, \Omega^2 \, \widetilde{H}^2 \, G_{xx} \\ &+ 2 \, \kappa^4 \, \widetilde{G} \, H_\tau^2 - \kappa^2 \, \widetilde{G} \, H_{\tau\tau} + 2 \, \Omega^4 \, \widetilde{H} \, G_x^2 - \Omega^2 \, \widetilde{H} \, G_{xx} - \mathcal{D} \, V \right] \mathcal{D} \,. \end{aligned}$$

$$(3.62)$$

Plugging the result of  $[\sigma_2^{\mu\nu}]$  back into (3.52) and performing the integrals over  $\omega$  and  $\kappa$ , the heat kernel coefficient  $E_2$  can be derived. The exact result after performing these integrals is difficult to compute; however, as we will show in the following, when the difference between  $G_{\mu\nu}$  and  $H_{\mu\nu}$  is sufficiently small, the heat kernel coefficient can be computed order by order perturbatively.

#### 3.3.3 Perturbative expansion of the heat kernel coefficient

We now perform the frequency-momentum integrals in the expression for the heat kernel coefficient  $E_2$  in (3.52). From now on, we focus on the case where the difference between  $G_{\mu\nu}$  and  $H_{\mu\nu}$  is controlled by a sufficiently small parameter  $\epsilon$ , such that

$$G_{\mu\nu} - H_{\mu\nu} = \epsilon f_{\mu\nu} \,. \tag{3.63}$$

In terms of f, the quantity  $\mathcal{A}_{\mu\nu}$  defined in (3.56) can be written as

$$\mathcal{A}_{\mu\nu} = \left(\omega^2 + \kappa^2 - \lambda\right) G_{\mu\nu} - \epsilon \,\kappa^2 \,f_{\mu\nu}\,. \tag{3.64}$$

Its inverse  $\mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu}$  can be expressed as a Taylor expansion with respect to  $\epsilon$ , given by

$$\mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\epsilon^n \kappa^{2n}}{\left(\omega^2 + \kappa^2 - \lambda\right)^{n+1}} \left(g^n\right)^{\mu}{}_{\rho} G^{\rho\nu} , \qquad (3.65)$$

where we defined the matrix  $g = (g^{\mu}{}_{\nu})$  with

$$g^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \equiv G^{\mu\rho} f_{\rho\nu} \,.$$
 (3.66)

The terms in (3.62) that are of the zeroth order in  $\epsilon$  are

$$[\sigma_2^{\mu\nu}]^{(0)} = -\frac{G^{\mu\rho} V_{\rho\sigma} G^{\sigma\nu}}{\omega^2 + \kappa^2 - \lambda} \,. \tag{3.67}$$

Note that we chose *not* to expand  $V_{\mu\nu}$  defined in (3.33) with respect to  $\epsilon$ . The contribution from  $[\sigma_2^{\mu\nu}]^{(0)}$  to  $E_2$  can be computed by using (3.52), yielding

$$E_2^{(0)} = -G^{\mu\nu} V_{\mu\nu} \int \frac{d\omega \, dk}{(2\pi)^2} \int_{\mathcal{C}} \frac{i \, d\lambda}{2\pi} \, \frac{e^{-\lambda}}{\omega^2 + \kappa^2 - \lambda} = -\frac{1}{4\pi} \, G^{\mu\nu} \, V_{\mu\nu} \,. \tag{3.68}$$

Similarly, we find, up to the fourth order in f,

$$E_{2}^{(1)} = -\frac{1}{8\pi} G^{\mu\nu} g^{\rho}{}_{\mu} V_{\rho\nu} + \frac{1}{48\pi} G^{\mu\nu} \left( \nabla_{\tau}^{2} f_{\mu\nu} - 3 \Delta_{x}^{2} f_{\mu\nu} \right), \qquad (3.69a)$$
$$E_{2}^{(2)} = -\frac{3}{32\pi} G^{\nu\sigma} g^{\mu}{}_{\rho} g^{\rho}{}_{\sigma} V_{\mu\nu}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{64\pi} G^{\mu\rho} G^{\nu\sigma} \left[ 2f_{\mu\nu} \left( \nabla_{\tau}^2 f_{\rho\sigma} + \Delta_x^2 f_{\rho\sigma} \right) + \nabla_{\tau} f_{\mu\nu} \nabla_{\tau} f_{\rho\sigma} + 5 \Delta_x f_{\mu\nu} \Delta_x f_{\rho\sigma} \right], \quad (3.69b)$$

$$E_{2}^{(3)} = -\frac{5}{64\pi} G^{\mu\lambda} g^{\rho}{}_{\sigma} g^{\sigma}{}_{\lambda} g^{\nu}{}_{\rho} V_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{128\pi} G^{\rho\sigma} g^{\mu}{}_{\rho} g^{\nu}{}_{\sigma} \left( 5 \nabla_{\tau}^{2} f_{\mu\nu} + \Delta_{x}^{2} f_{\mu\nu} \right) + \frac{5}{128\pi} G^{\rho\sigma} G^{\lambda\nu} g^{\mu}{}_{\lambda} \left( \nabla_{\tau} f_{\mu\rho} \nabla_{\tau} f_{\nu\sigma} - \Delta_{x} f_{\mu\rho} \Delta_{x} f_{\nu\sigma} \right) , \qquad (3.69c)$$

$$E_{2}^{(4)} = -\frac{35}{512\pi} G^{\nu\kappa} g^{\mu}{}_{\nu} g^{\lambda}{}_{\mu} g^{\rho}{}_{\lambda} g^{\sigma}{}_{\kappa} V_{\rho\sigma} + \frac{1}{1536\pi} \left[ G^{\lambda\nu} g^{\mu}{}_{\lambda} g^{\rho}{}_{\mu} g^{\sigma}{}_{\nu} \left( 70 \nabla_{\tau}^{2} f_{\rho\sigma} + 6 \Delta_{x}^{2} f_{\rho\sigma} \right) + G^{\nu\lambda} G^{\sigma\kappa} g^{\mu}{}_{\lambda} g^{\rho}{}_{\kappa} \left( 28 \nabla_{\tau} f_{\mu\rho} \nabla_{\tau} f_{\nu\sigma} - 12 \Delta_{x} f_{\mu\rho} \Delta_{x} f_{\nu\sigma} \right) + G^{\rho\sigma} G^{\lambda\kappa} g^{\mu}{}_{\lambda} g^{\nu}{}_{\kappa} \left( 77 \nabla_{\tau} f_{\mu\rho} \nabla_{\tau} f_{\nu\sigma} - 3 \Delta_{x} f_{\mu\rho} \Delta_{x} f_{\nu\sigma} \right) \right].$$
(3.69d)

This calculation can be straightforwardly extended to any higher orders in  $\epsilon$  . The heat kernel coefficient is then

$$E_2 = E_2^{(0)} + \epsilon E_2^{(1)} + \epsilon^2 E_2^{(2)} + \epsilon^3 E_2^{(3)} + \epsilon^4 E_2^{(4)} + O(\epsilon^5).$$
(3.70)

Plugging (3.70) into (3.54), and rewriting all the terms that contain two spatial derivatives in terms of the reference metric  $H_{\mu\nu}$  instead of  $G_{\mu\nu}$ , we find the following log-divergent contribution to the one-loop effective action (up to boundary terms):

$$\Gamma_{1\text{-loop}}^{\log} = -\frac{1}{4\pi} \log\left(\frac{M}{m_{\text{IR}}}\right) \int_{\Sigma} d\tau \, dx \left(\mathcal{P}_{\mu\nu}^{G} \, \partial_{\tau} X_{0}^{\mu} \, \partial_{\tau} X_{0}^{\nu} + \mathcal{P}_{\mu\nu}^{H} \, \partial_{x} X_{0}^{\mu} \, \partial_{x} X_{0}^{\nu}\right). \tag{3.71}$$

Here, we have included the counterterms to cancel the dependence on the regulator  $\Lambda$  and introduced the renormalization scale M. To transcribe the expressions for  $\mathcal{P}^{G}_{\mu\nu}$  and  $\mathcal{P}^{H}_{\mu\nu}$ , we define in parallel with  $g^{\mu}{}_{\nu}$  in (3.66),

$$h^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \equiv H^{\mu\rho} f_{\rho\nu} \,. \tag{3.72}$$

Recall that  $H^{\mu\nu}$  is the inverse of  $H_{\mu\nu}$ . Then,

$$\mathcal{P}_{\mu\nu}^{G} = U^{\rho\sigma} R^{\lambda}{}_{\rho\sigma(\mu} G_{\nu)\lambda} + \frac{1}{2} G_{\lambda(\mu} \nabla_{\nu)} \left( U^{\rho\sigma} S^{\lambda}{}_{\rho\sigma} \right) + \frac{\epsilon^{2}}{16} \nabla_{\mu} g^{\rho}{}_{\sigma} \nabla_{\nu} g^{\sigma}{}_{\rho} + \frac{5 \epsilon^{3}}{32} g^{\rho}{}_{\sigma} \nabla_{\mu} g^{\sigma}{}_{\lambda} \nabla_{\nu} g^{\lambda}{}_{\rho} + \frac{7 \epsilon^{4}}{128} \left( 3 g^{\rho}{}_{\sigma} g^{\sigma}{}_{\lambda} \delta^{\kappa}{}_{\theta} + 2 g^{\rho}{}_{\lambda} g^{\kappa}{}_{\theta} \right) \nabla_{\mu} g^{\lambda}{}_{\kappa} \nabla_{\nu} g^{\theta}{}_{\rho} + O\left(\epsilon^{5}\right) , \qquad (3.73a)$$
$$[10pt] \mathcal{P}_{\mu\nu}^{H} = U^{\rho\sigma} \Sigma^{\lambda}{}_{\rho\sigma(\mu} H_{\nu)\lambda} - \frac{1}{2} H_{\lambda(\mu} \Delta_{\nu)} \left( U^{\rho\sigma} S^{\lambda}{}_{\rho\sigma} \right) + \frac{\epsilon^{2}}{16} \Delta_{\mu} h^{\rho}{}_{\sigma} \Delta_{\nu} h^{\sigma}{}_{\rho} - \frac{5 \epsilon^{3}}{32} h^{\rho}{}_{\sigma} \Delta_{\mu} h^{\sigma}{}_{\lambda} \Delta_{\nu} h^{\lambda}{}_{\rho}$$

$$+ \frac{7\epsilon^4}{128} \left(3h^{\rho}{}_{\sigma}h^{\sigma}{}_{\lambda}\delta^{\kappa}_{\theta} + 2h^{\rho}{}_{\lambda}h^{\kappa}{}_{\theta}\right)\Delta_{\mu}h^{\lambda}{}_{\kappa}\Delta_{\nu}h^{\theta}{}_{\rho} + O\left(\epsilon^5\right), \qquad (3.73b)$$

which contribute the beta-functionals of  $G_{\mu\nu}$  and  $H_{\mu\nu}$ . We already substituted  $V_{\mu\nu}$  with its definition in (3.33). Note that the covariant derivatives of the metric fields can be expressed in terms of  $S^{\rho}_{\mu\nu}$ , which is defined in (3.4) as the difference between the Christoffel symbols,

$$\nabla_{\mu} g^{\rho}{}_{\sigma} = H^{\rho\lambda} \left( G_{\kappa\lambda} S^{\kappa}{}_{\sigma\mu} + G_{\kappa\sigma} S^{\kappa}{}_{\lambda\mu} \right) , \qquad \Delta_{\mu} h^{\rho}{}_{\sigma} = -G^{\rho\lambda} \left( H_{\kappa\lambda} S^{\kappa}{}_{\sigma\mu} + H_{\kappa\sigma} S^{\kappa}{}_{\lambda\mu} \right) .$$
(3.74)

We have used the following relation to write  $\mathcal{P}^{H}_{\mu\nu}$  in (3.73b) in terms of the reference metric  $H_{\mu\nu}$  instead of  $G_{\mu\nu}$ :

$$G^{\mu\nu} = \left[ (\mathbb{1} + \epsilon h)^{-1} H^{-1} \right]^{\mu\nu} = \left[ \delta^{\mu}_{\rho} - \epsilon h^{\mu}_{\ \rho} + \epsilon^{2} (h^{2})^{\mu}_{\ \rho} - \epsilon^{3} (h^{3})^{\mu}_{\ \rho} + \epsilon^{4} (h^{4})^{\mu}_{\ \rho} \right] H^{\rho\nu} + O(\epsilon^{5}) .$$
(3.75)

In contrast,  $\mathcal{P}^{G}_{\mu\nu}$  in (3.73a) is still written in terms of the reference metric  $G_{\mu\nu}$ . We defined

$$U^{\mu\nu} \equiv \left[\delta^{\mu}_{\rho} + \frac{1}{2}\epsilon g^{\mu}{}_{\rho} + \frac{3}{8}\epsilon^{2} \left(g^{2}\right)^{\mu}{}_{\rho} + \frac{5}{16}\epsilon^{3} \left(g^{3}\right)^{\mu}{}_{\rho} + \frac{35}{128}\epsilon^{4} \left(g^{4}\right)^{\mu}{}_{\rho} + O\left(\epsilon^{5}\right)\right] G^{\rho\nu} \\ = \left[\delta^{\mu}_{\rho} - \frac{1}{2}\epsilon h^{\mu}{}_{\rho} + \frac{3}{8}\epsilon^{2} \left(h^{2}\right)^{\mu}{}_{\rho} - \frac{5}{16}\epsilon^{3} \left(h^{3}\right)^{\mu}{}_{\rho} + \frac{35}{128}\epsilon^{4} \left(h^{4}\right)^{\mu}{}_{\rho} + O\left(\epsilon^{5}\right)\right] H^{\rho\nu},$$
(3.76)

where the summands coincide with the lowest-order terms in the Taylor expansion with respect to  $\epsilon$  of the matrix  $(\mathbb{1} - \epsilon g)^{-1/2} G^{-1}$ . We show that  $U = (\mathbb{1} - \epsilon g)^{-1/2} G^{-1}$  is valid to all orders in  $\epsilon$  by following the steps detailed below. First, note that the U-dependent terms in (3.73) are all from the last term in (3.62), i.e.,

$$I_V^{\mu\nu} \equiv -\mathcal{D}^{\mu\rho} V_{\rho\sigma} \mathcal{D}^{\sigma\nu} \subset [\sigma_2^{\mu\nu}] , \qquad (3.77)$$

which contributes the following term in  $E_2$ :

$$\mathcal{I}_V = \int \frac{d\omega \, dk}{(2\pi)^2} \int_{\mathcal{C}} \frac{i \, d\lambda}{2\pi} \, e^{-\lambda} \, G_{\mu\nu} \, I_V^{\mu\nu} \subset E_2 \,. \tag{3.78}$$

Using the expression for  $\mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu}$  in (3.65), we find

$$\mathcal{I}_V = -\frac{1}{4\pi} U^{\mu\nu} V_{\mu\nu} \,, \tag{3.79}$$

where

$$U^{\mu\nu} = \left[ \left(\mathbb{1} - \epsilon g\right)^{-1/2} G^{-1} \right]^{\mu\nu} = \left( \sqrt{H^{-1} G} G^{-1} \right)^{\mu\nu}.$$
(3.80)

Further note that

$$U = \sqrt{H^{-1}G} G^{-1} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{G^{-1}H}} G^{-1} = \sqrt{G^{-1}H} H^{-1}, \qquad (3.81)$$

which demonstrates that U remains unchanged if G and H are swapped. The remaining perturbative expansion in (3.73) can be extended to all orders in  $\epsilon$  as well, leading to the exact heat kernel coefficient. Since this exact expression does not take any illuminating form, we refer the interested readers to appendix A for details.

Further note that the effective action (3.71) is self-dual under the mapping (3.2),<sup>7</sup> which is a symmetry of the sigma model (3.1) that we started with. This is highly nontrivial since all the intermediate steps that eventually lead to the effective action are taken with respect to a reference metric  $G_{\mu\nu}$ . These intermediate steps (e.g., (3.69)) do not manifest the self-duality transformation (3.2). The fact that the final effective action (3.71) is self-dual therefore acts as a strong sanity check of our calculation.

#### **3.4** Dilaton contributions

Up to now, we have been focusing on the flat worldsheet, where the contributions from the dilaton terms to the effective action are invisible. In this subsection, we revisit the dilaton terms on a curved worldsheet and evaluate the contributions from the dilatons to the RG flows of  $G_{\mu\nu}$  and  $H_{\mu\nu}$ .

Recall that the sigma model on a curved worldsheet is given by (2.31). In the flat worldsheet limit, the dilaton term vanishes; however, the dilaton term in (2.31) still makes nontrivial contributions to the trace anomaly,

$$T_{\Phi} = \partial_{\tau}^{2} \Phi_{\mathrm{T}} + \partial_{x}^{2} \Phi_{\mathrm{L}} = \partial_{\tau} X^{\mu} \partial_{\tau} X^{\nu} \nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} \Phi_{\mathrm{T}} + \partial_{x} X^{\mu} \partial_{x} X^{\nu} \Delta_{\mu} \Delta_{\nu} \Phi_{\mathrm{L}} + \nabla_{\tau} \partial_{\tau} X^{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} \Phi_{\mathrm{T}} + \Delta_{x} \partial_{x} X^{\mu} \Delta_{\mu} \Phi_{\mathrm{L}} .$$
(3.82)

On the other hand, the trace of the stress energy tensor is related to the beta-functionals of  $\beta_{\mu\nu}^G$  and  $\beta_{\mu\nu}^H$  as

$$T = -\frac{1}{2\alpha'} \left( \partial_{\tau} X^{\mu} \partial_{\tau} X^{\nu} \beta^{G}_{\mu\nu} + \partial_{x} X^{\mu} \partial_{x} X^{\nu} \beta^{H}_{\mu\nu} \right) \,. \tag{3.83}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Under the duality transformation (3.2), we have  $f \leftrightarrow -f$ , which induces  $g \leftrightarrow -h$ .

For  $T_{\Phi}$  in (3.82) to be absorbed into the beta-functionals in (3.83), we need to remove in (3.82) the last two terms that depend on  $\nabla_{\tau} \partial_{\tau} X^{\mu}$  and  $\Delta_x \partial_x X^{\mu}$ . This can be achieved by first using the equation of motion (3.23) satisfied by the background field  $X_0^{\mu}$ ,

$$G_{\mu\rho}\nabla_{\tau}\partial_{\tau}X_0^{\mu} + H_{\mu\rho}\Delta_x\partial_x X_0^{\mu} = 0, \qquad (3.84)$$

which allows us to rewrite (3.82) as

$$T_{\Phi} = \partial_{\tau} X^{\mu} \partial_{\tau} X^{\nu} \nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} \Phi_{\mathrm{T}} + \partial_{x} X^{\mu} \partial_{x} X^{\nu} \Delta_{\mu} \Delta_{\nu} \Phi_{\mathrm{L}} + \nabla_{\tau} \partial_{\tau} X^{\mu} \left( \nabla_{\mu} \Phi_{\mathrm{T}} - G_{\mu\rho} H^{\rho\sigma} \Delta_{\sigma} \Phi_{\mathrm{L}} \right) .$$
(3.85)

Setting the extra  $\nabla_{\tau} \partial_{\tau} X^{\mu}$  term to zero requires that the background fields satisfy

$$G^{\mu\nu} \nabla_{\nu} \Phi_{\rm T} = H^{\mu\nu} \Delta_{\nu} \Phi_{\rm L} \,. \tag{3.86}$$

This condition is fulfilled, for example, when the dilaton fields are constant. As a result,

$$T_{\Phi} = \partial_{\tau} X^{\mu} \partial_{\tau} X^{\nu} \nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} \Phi_{\mathrm{T}} + \partial_{x} X^{\mu} \partial_{x} X^{\nu} \Delta_{\mu} \Delta_{\nu} \Phi_{\mathrm{L}} \,. \tag{3.87}$$

Comparing with (3.83), we find that the classical trace anomaly in (3.82) can be absorbed into the beta-functionals  $\beta_{\mu\nu}^G$  and  $\beta_{\mu\nu}^H$  by adding the following terms:

$$\beta_{\mu\nu}^G \supset 2\,\alpha'\,\nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu}\Phi_{\rm T}\,,\qquad \beta_{\mu\nu}^H \supset 2\,\alpha'\,\Delta_{\mu}\Delta_{\nu}\Phi_{\rm L}\,.\tag{3.88}$$

We emphasize that the extra condition (3.86) has to be imposed, otherwise we would have the extra term  $\nabla_{\tau} \partial_{\tau} X^{\mu}$  in (3.85) that cannot be absorbed into any local counterterms.

#### 3.5 Beta-functionals and coupled Ricci flows

In (3.71) and (3.88), we derived the Weyl anomalies in the effective action that are generated by quantum corrections, which lead to the following beta-functionals:

$$\beta_{\mu\nu}^{G} = \alpha' \mathcal{P}_{\mu\nu}^{G} + 2 \alpha' \nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} \Phi_{\mathrm{T}} + O\left(\alpha'^{2}\right)$$

$$= \alpha' \left\{ U^{\rho\sigma} R^{\lambda}{}_{\rho\sigma(\mu} G_{\nu)\lambda} + \frac{1}{2} G_{\lambda(\mu} \nabla_{\nu)} \left( U^{\rho\sigma} S^{\lambda}{}_{\rho\sigma} \right) + 2 \nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} \Phi_{\mathrm{T}} + \frac{\epsilon^{2}}{16} \nabla_{\mu} g^{\rho}{}_{\sigma} \nabla_{\nu} g^{\sigma}{}_{\rho} + \frac{5\epsilon^{3}}{32} g^{\rho}{}_{\sigma} \nabla_{\mu} g^{\sigma}{}_{\lambda} \nabla_{\nu} g^{\lambda}{}_{\rho} + \frac{7\epsilon^{4}}{128} \left( 3 g^{\rho}{}_{\sigma} g^{\sigma}{}_{\lambda} \delta^{\kappa}_{\theta} + g^{\rho}{}_{\lambda} g^{\kappa}{}_{\theta} \right) \nabla_{\mu} g^{\lambda}{}_{\kappa} \nabla_{\nu} g^{\theta}{}_{\rho} + O\left(\epsilon^{5}\right) \right\} + O\left(\alpha'^{2}\right), \quad (3.89a)$$

$$\beta_{\mu\nu}^{H} = \alpha' \mathcal{P}_{\mu\nu}^{H} + 2 \alpha' \Delta_{\mu} \Delta_{\nu} \Phi_{\rm L} + O\left(\alpha'^{2}\right)$$

$$= \alpha' \left\{ U^{\rho\sigma} \Sigma^{\lambda}{}_{\rho\sigma(\mu} H_{\nu)\lambda} - \frac{1}{2} H_{\lambda(\mu} \Delta_{\nu)} \left( U^{\rho\sigma} S^{\lambda}{}_{\rho\sigma} \right) + 2 \Delta_{\mu} \Delta_{\nu} \Phi_{\rm L} + \frac{\epsilon^{2}}{16} \Delta_{\mu} h^{\rho}{}_{\sigma} \Delta_{\nu} h^{\sigma}{}_{\rho} - \frac{5 \epsilon^{3}}{32} h^{\rho}{}_{\sigma} \Delta_{\mu} h^{\sigma}{}_{\lambda} \Delta_{\nu} h^{\lambda}{}_{\rho} + \frac{7 \epsilon^{4}}{128} \left( 3 h^{\rho}{}_{\sigma} h^{\sigma}{}_{\lambda} \delta^{\kappa}_{\theta} + h^{\rho}{}_{\lambda} h^{\kappa}{}_{\theta} \right) \Delta_{\mu} h^{\lambda}{}_{\kappa} \Delta_{\nu} h^{\theta}{}_{\rho} + O\left(\epsilon^{5}\right) \right\} + O\left(\alpha'^{2}\right). \quad (3.89b)$$

These beta-functionals need to be supplemented with the condition  $G^{\mu\nu} \nabla_{\nu} \Phi_{\rm T} = H^{\mu\nu} \Delta_{\nu} \Phi_{\rm L}$ in (3.86). We have recovered the dependence on  $\alpha'$  here, which we set to  $1/(2\pi)$  through the calculation. As a summary, we also collect below the definitions of various quantities that appear in (3.89):

$$f_{\mu\nu} = G_{\mu\nu} - H_{\mu\nu} , \qquad g^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = G^{\mu\rho} f_{\rho\nu} , \qquad h^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = H^{\mu\rho} f_{\rho\nu} , \qquad (3.90a)$$

$$U = \sqrt{H^{-1}G} G^{-1} = \sqrt{G^{-1}H} H^{-1}, \qquad (3.90b)$$

$$S^{\rho}{}_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} G^{\rho\sigma} \left( \Delta_{\mu} G_{\nu\sigma} + \Delta_{\nu} G_{\mu\sigma} - \Delta_{\sigma} G_{\mu\nu} \right) = \frac{1}{2} G^{\rho\sigma} \left( \Delta_{\mu} f_{\nu\sigma} + \Delta_{\nu} f_{\mu\sigma} - \Delta_{\sigma} f_{\mu\nu} \right)$$
(3.90c)

$$= -\frac{1}{2} H^{\rho\sigma} \left( \nabla_{\mu} H_{\nu\sigma} + \nabla_{\nu} H_{\mu\sigma} - \nabla_{\sigma} H_{\mu\nu} \right) = \frac{1}{2} H^{\rho\sigma} \left( \nabla_{\mu} f_{\nu\sigma} + \nabla_{\nu} f_{\mu\sigma} - \nabla_{\sigma} f_{\mu\nu} \right).$$
(3.90d)

Recall that  $R^{\rho}_{\mu\nu\sigma}$  ( $\Sigma^{\rho}_{\mu\nu\sigma}$ ) and  $\nabla_{\mu}$  ( $\Delta_{\mu}$ ) are respectively the Riemann tensor and covariant derivative defined with respect to the metric  $G_{\mu\nu}$  ( $H_{\mu\nu}$ ). Under the duality map  $G_{\mu\nu} \rightarrow H_{\mu\nu}$ , the beta-functional  $\beta^{G}_{\mu\nu}$  is transformed into  $\beta^{H}_{\mu\nu}$ . To map out the full RG flow structure of the sigma model, however, we will also need to compute the beta-functionals for the dilaton fields  $\Phi_{T,L}$  at the lowest order in  $\alpha'$ , which are, for example, important for determining the critical dimension (if such notion still exists) of the target space. However, the analysis of the dilaton beta-functionals requires a more thorough understanding of the worldsheet geometry and higher-loop calculation [32], for which other techniques are needed. For example, evaluating the Weyl anomalies on a curved worldsheet with a foliation structure requires the method developed in [30], which we leave for future studies.

The set of beta-functionals in (3.89) gives rise to a notion of coupled Ricci flows. In the limit  $H_{\mu\nu} \to G_{\mu\nu}$ , the condition (3.86) gives  $\nabla_{\mu}\Phi_{\rm T} = \nabla_{\mu}\Phi_{\rm L} \equiv \nabla_{\mu}\Phi$ . Moreover, the two equations in (3.89) reduce to the following beta-functional in relativistic string theory:

$$\beta_{\mu\nu}^{G} \equiv \frac{dG_{\mu\nu}}{d\iota} = \alpha' \left( R_{\mu\nu} + 2 \,\nabla_{\!\mu} \nabla_{\!\nu} \Phi \right) + O\left({\alpha'}^2\right) \,, \tag{3.91}$$

where  $\iota \equiv \ln M$ , with M the renormalization scale. Here,  $R_{\mu\nu} \equiv R^{\rho}{}_{\mu\rho\nu}$  is the Ricci tensor defined with respect to the unique metric  $G_{\mu\nu} = H_{\mu\nu}$ . Note that (3.91) is Perelman's Ricci flow equation for the metric field [33]. The equations in (3.89) can be viewed as a generalization of the Ricci flow equation that governs the evolution of two different geometries in a coupled way.

#### 3.6 Bimetric dynamics and linearized gravity

Requiring Weyl invariance at the quantum level sets the beta-functionals in (3.89) to zero. This gives rise to the equations of motion that dictate the dynamics of the target space geometry,

$$0 = U^{\rho\sigma} R^{\lambda}{}_{\rho\sigma(\mu} G_{\nu)\lambda} + \frac{1}{2} G_{\lambda(\mu} \nabla_{\nu)} \left( U^{\rho\sigma} S^{\lambda}{}_{\rho\sigma} \right) + 2 \nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} \Phi_{\mathrm{T}} + \frac{\epsilon^{2}}{16} \nabla_{\mu} g^{\rho}{}_{\sigma} \nabla_{\nu} g^{\sigma}{}_{\rho} + \frac{5 \epsilon^{3}}{32} g^{\rho}{}_{\sigma} \nabla_{\mu} g^{\sigma}{}_{\lambda} \nabla_{\nu} g^{\lambda}{}_{\rho} + \frac{7 \epsilon^{4}}{128} \left( 3 g^{\rho}{}_{\sigma} g^{\sigma}{}_{\lambda} \delta^{\kappa}_{\theta} + g^{\rho}{}_{\lambda} g^{\kappa}{}_{\theta} \right) \nabla_{\mu} g^{\lambda}{}_{\kappa} \nabla_{\nu} g^{\theta}{}_{\rho} + \cdots, \qquad (3.92a)$$

$$0 = U^{\rho\sigma} \Sigma^{\lambda}{}_{\rho\sigma(\mu} H_{\nu)\lambda} - \frac{1}{2} H_{\lambda(\mu} \Delta_{\nu)} \left( U^{\rho\sigma} S^{\lambda}{}_{\rho\sigma} \right) + 2 \Delta_{\mu} \Delta_{\nu} \Phi_{\rm L} + \frac{\epsilon^2}{16} \Delta_{\mu} h^{\rho}{}_{\sigma} \Delta_{\nu} h^{\sigma}{}_{\rho} - \frac{5 \epsilon^3}{32} h^{\rho}{}_{\sigma} \Delta_{\mu} h^{\sigma}{}_{\lambda} \Delta_{\nu} h^{\lambda}{}_{\rho} + \frac{7 \epsilon^4}{128} \left( 3 h^{\rho}{}_{\sigma} h^{\sigma}{}_{\lambda} \delta^{\kappa}_{\theta} + h^{\rho}{}_{\lambda} h^{\kappa}{}_{\theta} \right) \Delta_{\mu} h^{\lambda}{}_{\kappa} \Delta_{\nu} h^{\theta}{}_{\rho} + \cdots, \qquad (3.92b)$$

together with the condition  $G^{\mu\nu} \nabla_{\nu} \Phi_{\rm T} = H^{\mu\nu} \Delta_{\nu} \Phi_{\rm L}$  in (3.86). Here, "…" denotes higherorder terms in  $\alpha'$  and  $\epsilon$ . Of course, we also need the equations of motion from setting the beta-functionals of the dilaton fields to zero to determine the full dynamics of the target space geometry, which we leave for future studies.

In the single metric limit  $G_{\mu\nu} = H_{\mu\nu}$ , the spacetime equations of motion (3.92) reduce to

$$R_{\mu\nu} + 2\,\nabla_{\!\mu}\nabla_{\!\nu}\Phi = 0\,. \tag{3.93}$$

In the case of a constant  $\Phi$ , this gives the Ricci flat condition that describes Einstein's gravity in absence of matter fields. In this sense, the equations of motion in (3.92) extend Einstein's gravity to a bimetric gravity.

To further understand the dynamics of the bimetric geometry, we set the background dilaton fields to be constant and focus on the linearized part of the spacetime equations of motion in (3.92). It is instructive to first linearize the beta-functionals in (3.89) and then impose the Weyl invariance to get the linearized spacetime equations of motion. We expand the metrics  $G_{\mu\nu}$  and  $H_{\mu\nu}$  around the Minkowskian metric  $\eta_{\mu\nu}$  as in (2.26), with

$$G_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2} \left( F_{\mu\nu} + f_{\mu\nu} \right) , \qquad H_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2} \left( F_{\mu\nu} - f_{\mu\nu} \right) . \tag{3.94}$$

The infinitesimal gauge transformations of  $F_{\mu\nu}$  and  $f_{\mu\nu}$  are induced by (2.25), which at the linearized order read

$$\delta F_{\mu\nu} = 2 \left( \partial_{\mu} \Xi_{\nu} + \partial_{\nu} \Xi_{\mu} \right) + \cdots, \qquad \delta f_{\mu\nu} = 0 + \cdots, \qquad (3.95)$$

where " $\cdots$ " denotes nonlinear terms. For simplicity, we require the dilatons to be constant. Linearizing the beta-functionals  $\beta_{\mu\nu}^G$  and  $\beta_{\mu\nu}^H$  in  $F_{\mu\nu}$  and  $f_{\mu\nu}$ , we find from (3.89) that

$$\beta_{\mu\nu}^{G} = \frac{\alpha'}{2} \eta^{\rho\sigma} \left( L_{\mu\rho\sigma\nu}^{F} + \frac{1}{2} \epsilon \,\partial_{\rho}\partial_{\sigma} f_{\mu\nu} \right) + \cdots, \qquad (3.96a)$$

$$\beta_{\mu\nu}^{H} = \frac{\alpha'}{2} \eta^{\rho\sigma} \left( L_{\mu\rho\sigma\nu}^{F} - \frac{1}{2} \epsilon \partial_{\rho} \partial_{\sigma} f_{\mu\nu} \right) + \cdots, \qquad (3.96b)$$

where

$$L^{F}_{\mu\rho\sigma\nu} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \partial_{\rho}\partial_{\sigma}F_{\mu\nu} - \partial_{\rho}\partial_{\nu}F_{\mu\sigma} + \partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}F_{\rho\sigma} - \partial_{\mu}\partial_{\sigma}F_{\rho\nu} \right)$$
(3.97a)

coincides with the linearized part of the Riemann tensor associated with the metric field  $G_{\mu\nu} + H_{\mu\nu}$ . It follows from (3.96) that

$$\beta_{\mu\nu}^{F} = \alpha' \eta^{\rho\sigma} L_{\mu\rho\sigma\nu}^{F} + \cdots, \qquad \beta_{\mu\nu}^{f} = \frac{1}{2} \alpha' \eta^{\rho\sigma} \partial_{\rho} \partial_{\sigma} f_{\mu\nu} + \cdots. \qquad (3.98)$$

Imposing that the theory is free of Weyl anomalies sets both beta-functionals to zero and gives the linearized spacetime equations of motion

$$\eta^{\rho\sigma}L^F_{\mu\rho\sigma\nu} = 0, \qquad \eta^{\rho\sigma}\partial_\rho\partial_\sigma f_{\mu\nu} = 0.$$
(3.99)

These expressions are invariant under the linearized infinitesimal gauge transformation (3.95). Therefore, at the linearized order, from  $G_{\mu\nu}$  and  $H_{\mu\nu}$  we form a massless spin-two gauge field  $F_{\mu\nu}$  and a matrix  $f_{\mu\nu}$  that satisfies the Klein-Gordon equation. The first linearized equation in (3.99) implies that the vertex operator  $V_F$  in (2.28a) is associated with a spin-two excitation. It is of immediate interest to verify the existence of such a spin-two excitation in the string spectrum by analyzing appropriate closed string vertex operators in flat spacetime. This will be an essential step for us to interpret the bimetric spacetime as emerging from a coherent state of strings, similar to how Einstein's gravity arises in relativistic string theory. This analysis requires future studies of the worldsheet dynamics.

We emphasize that the bimetric gravity that arises from our Lifshitz-type sigma model is in nature different from the usual bimetric formalism of massive gravity [18], already at the linearized order: in fact, none of the modes in (3.99) is massive!<sup>8</sup> Nevertheless, the linearized equations of motion (3.99) imply that our bimetric gravity is not necessarily against the usual no-go theorem that multiplets of interacting massless spin-two fields do not exist [35]: even though the target-space geometry is described by two metric fields  $G_{\mu\nu}$ and  $H_{\mu\nu}$ , there is only one massless spin-two excitation formed by these two metric fields. In the single metric limit  $H_{\mu\nu} \rightarrow G_{\mu\nu}$ , i.e.  $f_{\mu\nu} \rightarrow 0$ , the extra modes are set to zero and we are left with Einstein's gravity. Our analysis here is only for the free theory, and it requires further analysis to determine whether the interacting theory is free of ghosts, which we leave for future work.<sup>9</sup>

#### 4 Outlooks: membranes at quantum criticality

Since we have given up the worldsheet boost symmetry, strings no longer have any privileged position, and a broader spectrum of theories that are beyond string theory present. So far,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>See e.g. section 5.4 of [34] for the mass eigenstates in the bimetric formulation of massive gravity.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>A preliminary analysis of the Lagrangian formalism for the linearized equations of motion in (3.99) shows that there are kinetic terms with a wrong sign, which could be problematic when interactions are included. Nevertheless, it is possible that the related ghost-like modes are removed by nonlinear Hamiltonian constraints in the full interacting theory. This endeavour requires first constructing an action principle and then performing a Hamiltonian analysis. On the other hand, as long as the worldsheet quantum field theory that underlies this bimetric gravity is well-defined, the worldsheet perspective will keep providing us with a solid foundation for future studies of this exotic gravity theory.

we have been focusing on two-dimensional sigma models that describe strings propagating in a bimetric spacetime. In the following, we discuss natural generalizations to Lifshitz-type NLSMs that describe membranes at quantum criticality, following [2, 5, 36].

We consider worldvolume theories described by sigma models at a Lifshitz point, in which case it is possible to construct quantum theories of membranes that are potentially perturbatively defined. A quantum theory of membranes of this type is introduced in [2] and has been preluded in section 1, where the worldvolume theory of the sigma model is described by a three-dimensional quantum field theory at a z = 2 Lifshitz point, coupled to worldvolume Hořava gravity. Due to the foliation structure induced by the foliationpreserving diffeomorphism on the worldvolume, the summation over the three-manifold can be consistently restricted to be over a specific class of foliated manifolds, whose spatial leaves are Riemann surfaces. The spatial topology in the foliated manifold changes when the membranes interact with each other. When the three-dimensional sigma model satisfies the so-call "detailed balance condition," i.e., the time-evolution of the worldsheet gravitational and matter fields is governed by a gradient flow generated by some Euclidean action principle, an intriguing connection to string theory can be established: as shown in [2], the quantum theory of membranes that satisfies the detailed balance condition, and with compact spatial topology  $\Sigma_h$ , has the property that its ground-state wavefunction reproduces the partition function of bosonic string theory on the worldsheet  $\Sigma_h$ . Moreover, the three-dimensional sigma model that describes membranes at quantum criticality inherits the RG properties of the two-dimensional relativistic sigma model that underlies bosonic string theory. As a result, the appropriate spacetime geometry coupled to the membranes is the same as in string theory, and the dynamics of the spacetime geometry is described by Einstein's gravity.

It is, however, intriguing to consider sigma models that generalize the theory of membranes at quantum criticality in [2] by relaxing the detailed balance condition. This will allow us to probe more exotic spacetime geometries. We will discuss different generalizations below. An especially interesting example has been introduced in [5, 36], where a three-dimensional NLSMs with Aristotelian supersymmetry is formulated, presenting a nonrelativistic ultra-violet (UV) completion of three-dimensional relativistic  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  supersymmetric sigma models. This Lifshitz-type NLSM provides a manageable candidate for a quantum membrane theory in a bimetric spacetime.

#### 4.1 Bosonic membranes and O(N) nonlinear sigma model

For simplicity, we will impose the worldvolume time-reversal symmetry throughout this section. In the bosonic case, the generalization to theories of membranes leads to a proliferation of terms. To construct such membrane theories, we introduce the coordinates  $(t, x^i)$ , i = 1, 2 on the worldvolume. The engineering scaling dimensions at a z = 2 Lifshitz point are

$$[t] = -1, \qquad [\mathbf{x}] = -\frac{1}{2}.$$
 (4.1)

We parametrize the target space by  $X^{\mu}$ ,  $\mu = 0, 1, \dots, d-1$ , whose scaling dimension is zero. We classify all the marginal terms in the most general bosonic NLSM on a flat worldvolume:

$$S_{\text{brane}} = \frac{T_2}{2} \int dt \, d^2 \mathbf{x} \left( \partial_t X^{\mu} \, \partial_t X^{\nu} \, G_{\mu\nu}(X) - \Delta^i \partial_i X^{\mu} \, \widetilde{\Delta}^j \partial_j X^{\nu} \, Q_{\mu\nu}(X) - \partial_i X^{\mu} \, \partial_i X^{\nu} \, \partial_j X^{\rho} \, \partial_j X^{\sigma} \, T_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}(X) \right),$$

$$(4.2)$$

where the covariant derivative  $\Delta_i$  ( $\tilde{\Delta}_i$ ) is the pullback of  $\Delta_\mu$  ( $\tilde{\Delta}_\mu$ ) that is compatible with a metric field  $H_{\mu\nu}(X)$  ( $\tilde{H}_{\mu\nu}(X)$ ). Here,  $G_{\mu\nu}$ ,  $H_{\mu\nu}$ ,  $\tilde{H}_{\mu\nu}$ , and  $Q_{\mu\nu}$  are symmetric and transform as two-tensors and  $T_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}$  transforms as a four-tensor with respect to spacetime diffeomorphisms. The action  $S_{\text{brane}}$  is invariant under reparametrizations of the target space coordinates  $X^{\mu}$ . At the detailed balance, we have  $G_{\mu\nu} = H_{\mu\nu} = \tilde{H}_{\mu\nu} = Q_{\mu\nu}$  and  $T_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} = 0$ , and the beta-functional of  $G_{\mu\nu}$  is the usual Ricci flow equation as in (3.91) (with the dilaton field set to zero). However, without the detailed balance condition, the spacetime geometry in (4.2) is quite intricate and described by multiple tensorial fields. The sigma model (4.2) can also be consistently coupled to the worldvolume Weyl-invariant Hořava gravity, which does not possess any propagating gravitational degree of freedom [2].

In the simple case when the target space is an (d-1)-sphere  $S^{d-1}$ , the sigma model in (4.2) still deviates from its relativistic counter-partner in an interesting way. The marginal Lagrangian terms invariant under the target space O(d) symmetry are  $[37-39]^{10}$ 

$$S_{\text{sphere}} = \frac{T_2}{2} \int dt \, d^2 \mathbf{x} \left[ \partial_t X^I \, \partial_t X^J G_{IJ} - \zeta^2 \, \nabla^i \partial_i X^I \, \nabla^j \partial_j X^J G_{IJ} - \alpha_1 \, \left( \partial_i X^I \, \partial_i X^J G_{IJ} \right)^2 - \alpha_2 \, \left( \partial_i X^I \, \partial_j X^J G_{IJ} \right) \, \left( \partial_i X^K \, \partial_j X^L G_{KL} \right) \right], \tag{4.3}$$

where  $I = 1, \dots, d$  and  $G_{IJ}$  is the round metric on  $S^{N-1}$ ,

$$G_{IJ}(X) = \delta_{IJ} + \frac{X^I X^J}{1 - X^K X^K}.$$
 (4.4)

The RG flows of the NLSM in (4.3) have been evaluated in [38, 39]. Intriguingly, projected in the  $\alpha_1$ - $\alpha_2$  plane, the RG flows possess multiple fixed points, depending on the value of d. In particular, there is one RG fixed point that is independent of d at  $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2 = 0$ . At this common fixed point in the  $\alpha_1$ - $\alpha_2$  plane, the theory exhibits the detailed balance properties. The beta-function calculation of the O(d) NLSM (4.3) is already rather involved, due to the presence of the terms that are quartic in spatial derivatives. When it comes to the NLSM (4.2) in general target spaces, the proliferation of tensorial structures in spacetime poses more challenges, which might require new techniques to tackle with.

#### 4.2 Supermembranes in a bimetric spacetime

Just like the case of the O(N) NLSM, imposing the detailed balance condition on  $S_{\text{brane}}$ in (4.2) significantly simplifies the quartic derivative terms. At the meantime, the detailed balance condition also forces  $G_{\mu\nu} = H_{\mu\nu}$ . Nevertheless, it is indeed possible to simplify

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>Also see [40] for studies of spontaneous symmetry breaking in Lifshitz-type NLSMs.

the quartic derivative terms but still allow a bimetric structure in the target space. This is achieved in [5, 36] by introducing Aristotelian supersymmetry in three dimensions, generated by two real supercharges  $Q_1$  and  $Q_2$  that form a multiplet  $Q_{\alpha}$ ,  $\alpha = 1, 2$ .

We follow closely [5] below and review the basic ingredients in the construction of the theory of supermembranes in a bimetric spacetime. The same superspace formalism for Lifshitz-type O(N) sigma models can be found in [41]. We start with some conventions. Define the two-dimensional Dirac gamma matrices,

$$\rho = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \rho_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \rho_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(4.5)

For any given Grassmannian variable  $\chi_{\alpha}$ , we define its conjugate  $\overline{\chi} = i \chi^{\mathsf{T}} \rho$ . Consider the superalgebra in which  $Q_{\alpha}$  satisfies the anti-commutative relation

$$\left\{\overline{Q}_{\alpha}, Q_{\beta}\right\} = 2\,i\,\rho_{\alpha\beta}\,P_0\,,\tag{4.6}$$

where  $P_0$  is the energy generator. The relation in (4.6) can be deformed by a relevant term such that

$$\left\{\overline{Q},Q\right\} = 2i(\rho P_0 + c\rho_i P_i), \qquad (4.7)$$

where c is a dimensionful coupling (that plays the role of speed of light) from the perspective of the UV Aristotelian observer and  $P_i$  is the spatial momentum generator. Together with temporal and spatial translations and spatial rotational transformations (but without any boost transformation), we form the algebra of Aristotelian supersymmetry [5, 36] (also see [16] for related discussions). Since we are zooming in around the UV z = 2 Lifshitz point here, we will tune the coupling c to zero in the following discussion.

Next, we introduce worldvolume fermions  $\Psi^{\mu}_{\alpha} = (\Psi^{\mu}_1, \Psi^{\mu}_2)^{\intercal}$  together with an auxiliary field  $B^{\mu}$ . The fermionic symmetry transformations generated by  $Q_{\alpha}$  and parametrized by the Grassmannian number  $\epsilon = (\epsilon_1, \epsilon_2)^{\intercal}$  are

$$\delta_{\epsilon} X^{\mu} = \overline{\epsilon} \, \Psi^{\mu} \,, \tag{4.8a}$$

$$\delta_{\epsilon}\Psi^{\mu} = \left(-\partial_{t}X^{\mu}\rho + B^{\mu}\right)\epsilon,\tag{4.8b}$$

$$\delta_{\epsilon}B^{\mu} = \bar{\epsilon}\,\rho\,\partial_t\Psi^{\mu}\,.\tag{4.8c}$$

In the superspace formalism, in addition to the coordinates  $(t, x^i)$ , we introduce two real Grassmannian coordinates  $\theta_{\alpha}$ . Expanding with respect to  $\theta$ , the superfield  $Y^{\mu}$  of the superspace coordinates  $(t, x^i, \theta_{\alpha})$  takes the following form:

$$Y^{\mu}\left(t, x^{i}, \theta_{\alpha}\right) = X^{\mu}\left(t, x^{i}\right) + \overline{\theta} \Psi^{\mu}\left(t, x^{i}\right) + \frac{1}{2} \overline{\theta} \theta B^{\mu}\left(t, x^{i}\right).$$

$$(4.9)$$

The fermionic transformations in (4.8) can be written compactly as

$$\delta_{\epsilon}Y^{\mu} = \left[\overline{\epsilon} \,\mathcal{Q} \,, Y^{\mu}\right], \qquad \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha} \equiv \frac{\partial}{\partial\overline{\theta}^{\alpha}} - (\rho \,\theta)_{\alpha} \,\partial_t \,. \tag{4.10}$$

In this operator representation,  $P_0 = -i \partial_t$ . Define the supercovariant derivative

$$D_{\alpha} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{\theta}^{\alpha}} + (\rho \,\theta)_{\alpha} \,\partial_t \,, \tag{4.11}$$

such that  $\{Q, D\} = 0$ . The action that contains the most general marginal terms invariant under the transformation (4.10) is  $[5, 36]^{11}$ 

$$\widetilde{S}_{\text{brane}} = \frac{\widetilde{T}_2}{2} \int dt \, d^2 \mathbf{x} \, d^2 \theta \left( \overline{D}_{\alpha} Y^{\mu} \, D_{\alpha} Y^{\nu} \, G_{\mu\nu}[Y] - 2 \, \partial_i Y^{\mu} \, \partial_i Y^{\nu} \, H_{\mu\nu}[Y] \right). \tag{4.12}$$

Here, the superfield Y is dimensionless and the theory is at its lower critical dimensions. This sigma model is power-counting renormalizable. Coupling the sigma model (4.12) to worldvolume gravity requires supersymmetrizing (2+1)-dimensional Weyl-invariant Hořava gravity, for which techniques developed in [16, 45, 46] can be borrowed.

In the case when the deformation parametrized by the speed of light c in the anticommutation relation (4.7) is turned on, an associated deformation in (4.11) is also generated,

$$D_{\alpha} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \overline{\theta}^{\alpha}} + (\rho \,\theta)_{\alpha} \,\partial_t + c \,(\rho^i \theta)_{\alpha} \,\partial_i \,. \tag{4.13}$$

Substituting (4.13) in (4.12) gives rise to the NLSM that flows towards three-dimensional relativistic  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  supersymmetric NLSM in the IR.

Integrating out  $\theta$  and the auxiliary field  $B^{\mu}$  in (4.12), we find that the bosonic part of the action is

$$\widetilde{S}_{\text{brane}}^{\text{B}} = \frac{T_2}{2} \int dt \, d^2 \mathbf{x} \left( \partial_t X^{\mu} \, G_{\mu\nu} \, \partial_t X^{\nu} - \Delta^i \partial_i X^{\mu} \, H_{\mu\rho} \, G^{\rho\sigma} H_{\sigma\nu} \, \Delta^j \partial_j X^{\nu} \right). \tag{4.14}$$

This significantly simplifies the bosonic action (4.2) while retaining the bimetric natural of the target space. It is manifest that the matter fields have a quadratic dispersion relation.

The supersymmetric NLSM describes classical membranes propagating in a bimetric spacetime. However, unlike the two-dimensional sigma model (3.1) in a bimetric spacetime, which is self-dual under the transformation (3.2), now, in (4.12), the metric fields  $G_{\mu\nu}$  and  $H_{\mu\nu}$  are not on the same footing anymore. Therefore, we expect genuinely distinct beta-functionals for  $G_{\mu\nu}$  and  $H_{\mu\nu}$  in the membrane action (4.12). Power-counting renormalizable NLSMs of this type can also be constructed in higher dimensions. These NLSMs exhibit different Lifshitz scaling symmetries and in principle lead to an infinite hierarchy of multi-tensorial target-space geometries.

#### 5 Conclusions

In this paper, we considered a novel type of two-dimensional NLSMs, defined on a nonrelativistic worldsheet that lacks any local (Lorentzian nor Galilean) boost symmetries. The worldsheet dynamics is described by topological Hořava gravity. Imposing the worldsheet time-reversal symmetry, the sigma model is coupled to a pair of metric fields and describes classical strings propagating in a bimetric spacetime. We analyzed the RG flows in the bimetric sigma model, and derived the beta-functionals of the bimetric fields in (3.89), up

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>We use the convention  $\int d^2\theta \,\overline{\theta}\theta = 1$ . At the RG fixed point  $G_{\mu\nu} = H_{\mu\nu}$ , the theory is closely related to the effective action in the context of stochastic quantization with the Parisi-Sourlas supersymmetry (see, e.g., [42]). At equilibrium, the action (4.12) in the single metric limit reduces to a two-dimensional Euclidean theory, which coincides with the action of the harmonic topological sigma model on a flat worldsheet [43, 44].

to the fourth-order in the Taylor expansion with respect to a small deviation away from equal metric. This set of beta-functionals form a pair of coupled Ricci flow equations. In the limit where the two metric fields are identical to each other, the coupled Ricci flow equations reduce to a single Ricci flow equation that arises as the beta-functional in relativistic string theory. Imposing Weyl invariance at the quantum level, we discover the equations of motion that govern the dynamics of the background geometry in the bimetric sigma model. In the linearized bimetric gravity, there emerges a massless gravitational excitation, which is accompanied by other degrees of freedom that satisfy the Klein-Gordon equation in (3.99).

Our study of Lifshitz-type sigma models hints at new bimetric gravity theories. Different versions of bimetric and multimetric gravity theories have been studied extensively in the literature. A general formulation of bimetric gravities is introduced in [47] (see also [23, 24], using which a special version of bimetric gravity is put forward and shown to be free of singularities while preserving the general covariance principles [48]. Along other lines, in the context of massive gravity, a modern version of bimetric gravity (see, e.g., [18, 49] and references therein) has been constructed, which has the attractive feature of being free of the Boulware-Deser ghosts [50] and also bears applications to cosmology, the electroweak hierarchy problem [51], the fractional quantum Hall effect in condensed matter theory [52], et cetera. Furthermore, it has been shown in [13] that related multimetric description of massive gravity also arises in the context of non-local multi-string theory [53]. Nevertheless, the bimetric gravity considered in our work does not seem to fit into any of the previously existing models. To further the understanding of the bimetric gravity that arises in our work, and to identify its relation to existing bimetric theories, one imminent future task is to construct a gravitational action principle that gives rise to the spacetime equations of motion found in this paper and analyze the Hamiltonian constraints to determine the actual degrees of freedom. The fact that our bimetric gravity arises from a string-theoretical setup makes it promising that the full interacting theory might be free of ghosts.

The main focus of this paper has been the beta-functionals of the spacetime bimetric fields. However, to map out the complete RG structure of the two-dimensional Lifshitz-type sigma model, one also needs to determine the beta-functionals for the dilaton fields, for which detailed RG properties of the worldsheet Hořava gravity is required (some useful techniques have been developed in the literature, see, e.g., [30, 54-58]). This piece of calculation will be essential for understanding the notion of critical dimensions in Lifshitz-type sigma models. Further investigations of the foliated worldsheet topology will be important for revealing whether there exists a well-defined perturbative expansion with respect to a unique effective string coupling, formed by the two dilaton fields in (2.31). It will be fascinating to find out whether our nonrelativistic sigma model can ultimately be promoted to describe a self-consistent quantum theory of strings that generalizes relativistic string theory.

The concepts and techniques developed in this paper are applicable to a large class of Lifshitz-type sigma models that map p-branes to novel spacetime geometries described by multi-tensorial fields. We have discussed two natural generalizations in the paper.

The first variant that we introduced in section 2.4 is by explicitly breaking the timereversal symmetry in our sigma model, which leads to a two-dimensional sigma model in a trimetric spacetime geometry, coupled to a *B*-field and multiple dilaton fields. Later in section 4, we studied a second variant that is a three-dimensional supersymmetric sigma model describing membranes at quantum criticality, following [5, 36]. Understanding these new ingredients will boost the exploration of the mostly uncharted territory of Lifshitz-type NLSMs, providing an arena for probing new geometries and alternative constructions of quantum membranes.

#### Acknowledgments

The author is grateful to Petr Hořava and Charles Melby-Thompson for discussions and collaborations that inspired this work. It is also a pleasure to thank Shira Chapman, Kevin T. Grosvenor, Florian Niedermann, Niels A. Obers, Jan Rosseel, and Igal Arav for useful discussions and comments on a draft of this paper. Thanks to F. Niedermann and J. Rosseel for useful insights on massive gravity.

#### A Exact heat kernel coefficient

In (3.62), we presented the terms in  $\sigma_2$  that contribute nontrivially the heat kernel coefficient  $E_2$ . We then performed a perturbative expansion with respect to  $\epsilon$  introduced in (3.63) and kept terms in  $E_2$  up to the fourth order in  $\epsilon$ . In this appendix, we take a step forward and compute  $E_2$  exactly to all orders in  $\epsilon$ . We will set  $\epsilon = 1$  in the following discussion and the Taylor expansions will be taken with respect to f directly. We start with transcribing the result for  $\sigma_2^{\mu\nu}$  in (3.62) (where only terms that make nonzero contributions to  $E_2$  are kept):

$$[\sigma_2^{\mu\nu}] \sim \sum_{a=1}^{10} I_a^{\mu\nu} + I_V \,, \tag{A.1}$$

where

$$I_1^{\mu\nu} = -4\,\omega^2\,\kappa^4\,\mathcal{D}^{\mu\rho}\,\mathcal{D}^{\sigma\lambda}\,\mathcal{D}^{\kappa\theta}\,\mathcal{D}^{\xi\zeta}\,\mathcal{D}^{\eta\nu}\,G_{\rho\sigma}\,\nabla_{\tau}H_{\lambda\kappa}\,G_{\theta\xi}\,\nabla_{\tau}H_{\zeta\eta}\,,\tag{A.2a}$$

$$I_{2}^{\mu\nu} = -8\,\omega^{2}\,\kappa^{4}\,\mathcal{D}^{\mu\rho}\,\mathcal{D}^{\sigma\lambda}\,\mathcal{D}^{\kappa\theta}\,\mathcal{D}^{\xi\zeta}\,\mathcal{D}^{\eta\nu}\,G_{\rho\sigma}\,G_{\lambda\kappa}\,\nabla_{\tau}H_{\theta\xi}\,\nabla_{\tau}H_{\zeta\eta}\,,\qquad(A.2b)$$

$$I_3^{\mu\nu} = 4\,\omega^2\,\kappa^2\,\mathcal{D}^{\mu\rho}\,\mathcal{D}^{\sigma\lambda}\,\mathcal{D}^{\kappa\theta}\,\mathcal{D}^{\xi\nu}\,G_{\rho\sigma}\,G_{\lambda\kappa}\,\nabla_{\tau}^2H_{\theta\xi}\,,\tag{A.2c}$$

$$I_4^{\mu\nu} = -4 \kappa^2 \,\Omega^4 \,\mathcal{D}^{\mu\rho} \,\mathcal{D}^{\sigma\lambda} \,\mathcal{D}^{\kappa\theta} \,\mathcal{D}^{\xi\zeta} \,\mathcal{D}^{\eta\nu} \,H_{\rho\sigma} \,H_{\theta\xi} \,\Delta_x G_{\lambda\kappa} \,\Delta_x G_{\zeta\eta} \,, \tag{A.2d}$$

$$I_5^{\mu\nu} = -8 \kappa^2 \Omega^4 \mathcal{D}^{\mu\rho} \mathcal{D}^{\sigma\lambda} \mathcal{D}^{\kappa\theta} \mathcal{D}^{\xi\zeta} \mathcal{D}^{\eta\nu} H_{\rho\sigma} H_{\lambda\kappa} \Delta_x G_{\theta\xi} \Delta_x G_{\zeta\eta} , \qquad (A.2e)$$

$$I_6^{\mu\nu} = 4 \kappa^2 \,\Omega^2 \,\mathcal{D}^{\mu\rho} \,\mathcal{D}^{\sigma\lambda} \,\mathcal{D}^{\kappa\theta} \,\mathcal{D}^{\xi\nu} \,H_{\rho\sigma} \,H_{\lambda\kappa} \,\Delta_x^2 G_{\theta\xi} \,, \tag{A.2f}$$

$$I_7^{\mu\nu} = 2 \kappa^4 \mathcal{D}^{\mu\rho} \mathcal{D}^{\sigma\lambda} \mathcal{D}^{\kappa\theta} \mathcal{D}^{\xi\nu} G_{\rho\sigma} \nabla_{\tau} H_{\lambda\kappa} \nabla_{\tau} H_{\theta\xi} , \qquad (A.2g)$$

$$I_8^{\mu\nu} = -\kappa^2 \,\mathcal{D}^{\mu\rho} \,\mathcal{D}^{\sigma\lambda} \,\mathcal{D}^{\kappa\nu} \,G_{\rho\sigma} \,\nabla_\tau^2 H_{\lambda\kappa} \,, \tag{A.2h}$$

$$I_9^{\mu\nu} = 2\,\Omega^4\,\mathcal{D}^{\mu\rho}\,\mathcal{D}^{\sigma\lambda}\,\mathcal{D}^{\kappa\theta}\,\mathcal{D}^{\xi\nu}\,H_{\rho\sigma}\,\Delta_x G_{\lambda\kappa}\,\Delta_x G_{\theta\xi}\,,\tag{A.2i}$$

$$I_{10}^{\mu\nu} = -\Omega^2 \mathcal{D}^{\mu\rho} \mathcal{D}^{\sigma\lambda} \mathcal{D}^{\kappa\nu} H_{\rho\sigma} \Delta_x^2 G_{\lambda\kappa} , \qquad (A.2j)$$

and  $I_V$  has been defined in (3.77). The heat kernel coefficient  $E_2$  is then given by

$$E_2 = \sum_{a=1}^{10} \mathcal{I}_a + \mathcal{I}_V \,, \tag{A.3}$$

where  $\mathcal{I}_V$  has been computed in (3.79) and

$$\mathcal{I}_a = \int \frac{d\omega \, dk}{(2\pi)^2} \int_{\mathcal{C}} \frac{i \, d\lambda}{2\pi} \, e^{-\lambda} \, G_{\mu\nu} \, I_a^{\mu\nu} \,, \qquad a = 1, \cdots, 10 \,. \tag{A.4}$$

The results for  $\mathcal{I}_a$  are computed below:

$$\begin{split} I_{1} &= -\frac{1}{2\pi^{3/2}} \nabla_{\tau} H_{\mu\nu} \nabla_{\tau} H_{\rho\sigma} \sum_{n_{1}, \cdots, n_{5}=0}^{\infty} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{5}{2} \pm \sum_{a=1}^{5} n_{a}\right)}{\Gamma\left(5 \pm \sum_{a=1}^{5} n_{a}\right)} \left(g^{n_{1}+n_{2}+n_{5}} G^{-1}\right)^{\mu\rho} \left(g^{n_{3}+n_{4}} G^{-1}\right)^{\nu\sigma} \\ &= -\frac{1}{64\pi} G^{\mu\rho} G^{\nu\sigma} \nabla_{\tau} f_{\mu\nu} \nabla_{\tau} f_{\rho\sigma} - \frac{5}{128\pi} G^{\rho\sigma} G^{\lambda\nu} g^{\mu}_{\lambda} \nabla_{\tau} f_{\mu\rho} \nabla_{\tau} f_{\nu\sigma} \\ &- \frac{7}{512\pi} \left(2 G^{\nu\lambda} G^{\sigma\kappa} g^{\mu}_{\lambda} g^{\rho}_{\kappa} \nabla_{\tau} f_{\mu\rho} \nabla_{\tau} f_{\nu\sigma} + 3 G^{\rho\sigma} G^{\lambda\kappa} g^{\mu}_{\lambda} g^{\nu}_{\kappa} \nabla_{\tau} f_{\mu\rho} \nabla_{\tau} f_{\nu\sigma}\right) + O\left(f^{5}\right), \\ I_{2} &= -\frac{1}{\pi^{3/2}} \nabla_{\tau} H_{\mu\nu} \nabla_{\tau} H_{\rho\sigma} \sum_{n_{1}, \cdots, n_{5}=0}^{\infty} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{5}{2} \pm \sum_{a=1}^{5} n_{a}\right)}{\Gamma\left(5 \pm \sum_{a=1}^{5} n_{a}\right)} \left(g^{n_{1}+n_{2}+n_{3}+n_{5}} G^{-1}\right)^{\mu\rho} \left(g^{n_{4}} G^{-1}\right)^{\nu\sigma} \\ &= -\frac{1}{32\pi} G^{\mu\rho} G^{\nu\sigma} \nabla_{\tau} f_{\mu\nu} \nabla_{\tau} f_{\rho\sigma} - \frac{5}{64\pi} G^{\rho\sigma} G^{\lambda\nu} g^{\mu}_{\lambda} \nabla_{\tau} f_{\mu\rho} \nabla_{\tau} f_{\nu\sigma}\right) + O\left(f^{5}\right), \\ I_{3} &= \frac{1}{24\pi} \nabla_{\tau}^{2} H_{\mu\nu} \left[\left(G^{-1} H\right)^{-3/2} G^{-1}\right]^{\mu\nu} \\ &= -\frac{1}{24\pi} G^{\mu\nu} \nabla_{\tau}^{2} f_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{16\pi} G^{\mu\rho} G^{\nu\sigma} f_{\mu\nu} \nabla_{\tau}^{2} f_{\rho\sigma} - \frac{5}{64\pi} G^{\rho\sigma} g^{\mu}_{\rho} g^{\nu}_{\sigma} \nabla_{\tau}^{2} f_{\mu\nu} \\ &- \frac{35}{384\pi} G^{\lambda\nu} g^{\mu}_{\mu} g^{\sigma}_{\nu} \nabla_{\tau}^{2} f_{\rho\sigma} + O\left(f^{5}\right), \\ I_{4} &= -\frac{15}{4\pi^{3/2}} \Delta_{x} G_{\mu\nu} \Delta_{x} G_{\rho\sigma} \\ &\times \sum_{n_{1}, \cdots, n_{5}=0}^{\infty} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{3}{2} \pm \sum_{a=1}^{5} n_{a}\right)}{\Gamma\left(5 \pm \sum_{a=1}^{5} n_{a}\right)} \left(G^{-1} H g^{n_{1}+n_{2}+n_{5}} G^{-1}\right)^{\mu\rho} \left(G^{-1} H g^{n_{3}+n_{4}} G^{-1}\right)^{\nu\sigma} \\ &= -\frac{5}{64\pi} G^{\mu\rho} G^{\nu\sigma} \Delta_{x} f_{\mu\nu} \Delta_{x} f_{\rho\sigma} + \frac{5}{128\pi} G^{\rho\sigma} G^{\lambda\nu} g^{\mu}_{\lambda} \Delta_{x} f_{\mu\rho} \Delta_{x} f_{\nu\sigma}\right) + O\left(f^{5}\right), \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{I}_{5} &= -\frac{15}{2\pi^{3/2}} \Delta_{x} G_{\mu\nu} \Delta_{x} G_{\rho\sigma} \\ &\times \sum_{n_{1}, \cdots, n_{5}=0}^{\infty} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{3}{2} + \sum_{a=1}^{5} n_{a}\right)}{\Gamma\left(5 + \sum_{a=1}^{5} n_{a}\right)} \left[ \left( G^{-1} H \right)^{2} g^{n_{1} + n_{2} + n_{3} + n_{5}} G^{-1} \right]^{\mu\rho} \left( g^{n_{4}} G^{-1} \right)^{\nu\sigma} \\ &= -\frac{5}{32\pi} G^{\mu\rho} G^{\nu\sigma} \Delta_{x} f_{\mu\nu} \Delta_{x} f_{\rho\sigma} + \frac{5}{64\pi} G^{\rho\sigma} G^{\lambda\nu} g^{\mu}_{\lambda} \Delta_{x} f_{\mu\rho} \Delta_{x} f_{\nu\sigma} \\ &+ \frac{1}{256\pi} \left( 4 G^{\nu\lambda} G^{\sigma\kappa} g^{\mu}_{\lambda} g^{\rho}_{\kappa} \Delta_{x} f_{\mu\rho} \Delta_{x} f_{\nu\sigma} + G^{\rho\sigma} G^{\lambda\kappa} g^{\mu}_{\lambda} g^{\nu}_{\kappa} \Delta_{x} f_{\mu\rho} \Delta_{x} f_{\nu\sigma} \right) + O\left(f^{5}\right), \\ \mathcal{I}_{6} &= \frac{1}{8\pi} \Delta_{x}^{2} G_{\mu\nu} \left[ \left( G^{-1} H \right)^{1/2} G^{-1} \right]^{\mu\nu} \\ &= \frac{1}{8\pi} G^{\mu\nu} \Delta_{x}^{2} f_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{16\pi} G^{\mu\rho} G^{\nu\sigma} f_{\mu\nu} \Delta_{x}^{2} f_{\rho\sigma} - \frac{1}{64\pi} G^{\rho\sigma} g^{\mu}_{\rho} g^{\nu}_{\sigma} \Delta_{x}^{2} f_{\mu\nu} \\ &- \frac{1}{128\pi} G^{\lambda\nu} g^{\mu}_{\lambda} g^{\rho}_{\mu} g^{\sigma}_{\nu} \Delta_{x}^{2} f_{\rho\sigma} + O\left(f^{5}\right), \\ \mathcal{I}_{7} &= \frac{1}{2\pi^{3/2}} \nabla_{\tau} H_{\mu\nu} \nabla_{\tau} H_{\rho\sigma} \sum_{n_{1}, \cdots, n_{4}=0}^{\infty} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{5}{2} + \sum_{a=1}^{4} n_{a}\right)}{\Gamma\left(4 + \sum_{a=1}^{4} n_{a}\right)} \left( g^{n_{1} + n_{2} + n_{4}} G^{-1} \right)^{\mu\rho} \left( g^{n_{3}} G^{-1} \right)^{\nu\sigma} \\ &= \frac{1}{16\pi} G^{\mu\rho} G^{\nu\sigma} \nabla_{\tau} f_{\mu\nu} \nabla_{\tau} f_{\rho\sigma} + \frac{5}{32\pi} G^{\rho\sigma} G^{\lambda\nu} g^{\mu}_{\lambda} \nabla_{\tau} f_{\mu\rho} \nabla_{\tau} f_{\nu\sigma} \\ &+ \frac{7}{256\pi} \left( 3 G^{\nu\lambda} G^{\sigma\kappa} g^{\mu}_{\lambda} g^{\rho}_{\kappa} \nabla_{\tau} f_{\mu\rho} \nabla_{\tau} f_{\nu\sigma} + 7 G^{\rho\sigma} G^{\lambda\kappa} g^{\mu}_{\lambda} g^{\nu}_{\kappa} \nabla_{\tau} f_{\mu\rho} \nabla_{\tau} f_{\nu\sigma} \right) + O\left(f^{5}\right), \\ \mathcal{I}_{8} &= -\frac{1}{16\pi} \nabla_{\tau}^{2} H_{\mu\nu} \left[ \left( G^{-1} H \right)^{-3/2} G^{-1} \right]^{\mu\nu} \\ &= -\frac{3}{2} \mathcal{I}_{3}, \\ \mathcal{I}_{9} &= \frac{15}{8\pi^{3/2}} \Delta_{x} G_{\mu\nu} \Delta_{x} G_{\rho\sigma} \sum_{n_{1}, \cdots, n_{4}=0}^{\infty} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2} + \sum_{a=1}^{4} n_{a}\right)}{\Gamma\left(4 + \sum_{a=1}^{4} n_{a}\right)} \left( G^{-1} H g^{n_{1} + n_{2} + n_{4}} G^{-1} \right)^{\mu\rho} \left( g^{n_{3}} G^{-1} \right)^{\nu\sigma} \\ &= \frac{5}{16\pi} G^{\mu\rho} G^{\nu\sigma} \Delta_{x} f_{\mu\nu} \Delta_{x} f_{\rho\sigma} - \frac{5}{32\pi} G^{\rho\sigma} G^{\lambda\nu} g^{\mu}_{\lambda} \Delta_{x} f_{\mu\rho} \Delta_{x} f_{\nu\sigma} \right) + O\left(f^{5}\right), \\ \mathcal{I}_{10} &= -\frac{3}{32\pi} \Delta_{x}^{2} G_{\mu\nu} \left[ \left( G^{-1} H \right)^{1/2} G^{-1} \right]^{\mu\nu} \\ &= -\frac{3}{2} \mathcal{I}_{6}. \end{aligned}$$

For comparison, we expanded  $\mathcal{I}_a$  up to the fourth order in f after giving their exact expressions, written as infinite sums. Plugging the above expressions into (A.3) and keeping up to the fourth order in f reproduces (3.70).

**Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

#### References

- P. Hořava and E. Witten, Heterotic and type-I string dynamics from eleven-dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B 460 (1996) 506 [hep-th/9510209] [INSPIRE].
- [2] P. Hořava, Membranes at Quantum Criticality, JHEP 03 (2009) 020 [arXiv:0812.4287]
   [INSPIRE].
- [3] R. Penrose, Structure of space-time, in Battelle Rencontres, Seattle, U.S.A., 16–31 July 1967, p. 121 [INSPIRE].
- [4] K.T. Grosvenor, P. Hořava, C.J. Mogni and Z. Yan, Nonrelativistic Short-Distance Completions of a Naturally Light Higgs, arXiv:1608.06937 [INSPIRE].
- [5] P. Hořava, Aristotelian supersymmetry, talk at Perimeter Institute for Theoretical Physics, (2019) [http://pirsa.org/displayFlash.php?id=18100019].
- [6] J. Gomis and H. Ooguri, Nonrelativistic closed string theory, J. Math. Phys. 42 (2001) 3127 [hep-th/0009181] [INSPIRE].
- U.H. Danielsson, A. Guijosa and M. Kruczenski, *IIA/B*, wound and wrapped, *JHEP* 10 (2000) 020 [hep-th/0009182] [INSPIRE].
- [8] C. Batlle, J. Gomis and D. Not, Extended Galilean symmetries of non-relativistic strings, JHEP 02 (2017) 049 [arXiv:1611.00026] [INSPIRE].
- [9] J. Gomis and P.K. Townsend, The Galilean Superstring, JHEP 02 (2017) 105 [arXiv:1612.02759] [INSPIRE].
- [10] T. Harmark, J. Hartong and N.A. Obers, Nonrelativistic strings and limits of the AdS/CFT correspondence, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 086019 [arXiv:1705.03535] [INSPIRE].
- T. Harmark, J. Hartong, L. Menculini, N.A. Obers and Z. Yan, Strings with Non-Relativistic Conformal Symmetry and Limits of the AdS/CFT Correspondence, JHEP 11 (2018) 190
   [arXiv:1810.05560] [INSPIRE].
- [12] E.A. Bergshoeff, J. Gomis, J. Rosseel, C. Şimşek and Z. Yan, String Theory and String Newton-Cartan Geometry, J. Phys. A 53 (2020) 014001 [arXiv:1907.10668] [INSPIRE].
- [13] E. Kiritsis and V. Niarchos, Interacting String Multi-verses and Holographic Instabilities of Massive Gravity, Nucl. Phys. B 812 (2009) 488 [arXiv:0808.3410] [INSPIRE].
- [14] P. Hořava, Quantum Gravity at a Lifshitz Point, Phys. Rev. D 79 (2009) 084008
   [arXiv:0901.3775] [INSPIRE].
- [15] R.L. Arnowitt, S. Deser and C.W. Misner, Dynamical Structure and Definition of Energy in General Relativity, Phys. Rev. 116 (1959) 1322 [INSPIRE].
- [16] A. Frenkel, P. Hořava and S. Randall, Topological Quantum Gravity of the Ricci Flow, arXiv:2010.15369 [INSPIRE].
- [17] I. Arav, S. Chapman and Y. Oz, *Lifshitz Scale Anomalies*, *JHEP* 02 (2015) 078
   [arXiv:1410.5831] [INSPIRE].
- S.F. Hassan and R.A. Rosen, Bimetric Gravity from Ghost-free Massive Gravity, JHEP 02 (2012) 126 [arXiv:1109.3515] [INSPIRE].
- [19] M.B. Green, J.H. Schwarz and E. Witten, Superstring theory. Vol. 1: Introduction, Cambridge University Press (1988) [ISBN: 9780521357524].

- [20] J. Polchinski, String theory. Vol. 1: An introduction to the bosonic string, Cambridge University Press (2007) [DOI] [INSPIRE].
- [21] R.A. Bertlmann, Anomalies in quantum field theory, Oxford University Press (2000) [DOI].
- [22] A.H. Chamseddine and J. Fröhlich, Two-dimensional Lorentz-Weyl anomaly and gravitational Chern-Simons theory, Commun. Math. Phys. 147 (1992) 549 [INSPIRE].
- [23] N. Rosen, General Relativity and Flat Space. I, Phys. Rev. 57 (1940) 147 [INSPIRE].
- [24] N. Rosen, General Relativity and Flat Space. II, Phys. Rev. 57 (1940) 150 [INSPIRE].
- [25] P.S. Howe, G. Papadopoulos and K.S. Stelle, The Background Field Method and the Nonlinear σ Model, Nucl. Phys. B 296 (1988) 26 [INSPIRE].
- [26] R. Seeley, Complex powers of an elliptic operators, in Proc. Symp. Pure Math. 10 (1967) 288 [INSPIRE].
- [27] P.B. Gilkey, The Spectral geometry of a Riemannian manifold, J. Diff. Geom. 10 (1975) 601 [INSPIRE].
- [28] V.P. Gusynin, New Algorithm for Computing the Coefficients in the Heat Kernel Expansion, Phys. Lett. B 225 (1989) 233 [INSPIRE].
- [29] D.V. Vassilevich, Heat kernel expansion: User's manual, Phys. Rept. 388 (2003) 279
   [hep-th/0306138] [INSPIRE].
- [30] K.T. Grosvenor, C. Melby-Thompson and Z. Yan, New Heat Kernel Method in Lifshitz Theories, JHEP 04 (2021) 178 [arXiv:2101.03177] [INSPIRE].
- [31] H. Widom, Complete symbolic-calculus for pseudodifferential-operators, Bull. Sci. Math. 104 (1980) 19.
- [32] C.G. Callan, Jr. and L. Thorlacius, Sigma models and string theory, in Theoretical Advanced Study Institute in Elementary Particle Physics: Particles, Strings and Supernovae (TASI 88), Princeton University, Princeton, U.S.A., 21 March 1989, p.795 [INSPIRE].
- [33] G. Perelman, The Entropy formula for the Ricci flow and its geometric applications, math/0211159 [INSPIRE].
- [34] C. de Rham, Massive Gravity, Living Rev. Rel. 17 (2014) 7 [arXiv:1401.4173] [INSPIRE].
- [35] N. Boulanger, T. Damour, L. Gualtieri and M. Henneaux, Inconsistency of interacting, multigraviton theories, Nucl. Phys. B 597 (2001) 127 [hep-th/0007220] [INSPIRE].
- [36] P. Hořava, C. Melby-Thompson and S. Randall, to appear.
- [37] K. Anagnostopoulos, K. Farakos, P. Pasipoularides and A. Tsapalis, Non-Linear Sigma Model and asymptotic freedom at the Lifshitz point, arXiv:1007.0355 [INSPIRE].
- [38] T. Griffin, K. Grosvenor, P. Hořava, X. Wen, S. Ryu and Z. Yan, *Anisotropic nonlinear sigma model at a Lifshitz point*, unpublished.
- [39] Z. Yan, Nonrelativistic naturalness in Aristotelian quantum field theories, Ph.D. Thesis, UC Berkeley, Berkeley, California, U.S.A. (2017).
- [40] T. Griffin, K.T. Grosvenor, P. Hořava and Z. Yan, Multicritical Symmetry Breaking and Naturalness of Slow Nambu-Goldstone Bosons, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 101701 [arXiv:1308.5967] [INSPIRE].

- [41] P.R.S. Gomes and M. Gomes, Low-Energy Lorentz Invariance in Lifshitz Nonlinear Sigma Models, JHEP 06 (2016) 173 [arXiv:1604.08924] [INSPIRE].
- [42] J. Zinn-Justin, Renormalization and Stochastic Quantization, Nucl. Phys. B 275 (1986) 135 [INSPIRE].
- [43] P. Hořava, Topological strings and QCD in two-dimensions, in NATO Advanced Research Workshop on New Developments in String Theory, Conformal Models and Topological Field Theory, (1993) [hep-th/9311156] [INSPIRE].
- [44] P. Hořava, Topological rigid string theory and two-dimensional QCD, Nucl. Phys. B 463 (1996) 238 [hep-th/9507060] [INSPIRE].
- [45] A. Frenkel, P. Hořava and S. Randall, The Geometry of Time in Topological Quantum Gravity of the Ricci Flow, arXiv:2011.06230 [INSPIRE].
- [46] A. Frenkel, P. Hořava and S. Randall, Perelman's Ricci Flow in Topological Quantum Gravity, arXiv:2011.11914 [INSPIRE].
- [47] N. Rosen, Bimetric Theory of Gravitation, NATO Sci. Ser. B 27 (1977) 271 [INSPIRE].
- [48] N. Rosen, General Relativity With A Background Metric, Found. Phys. 10 (1980) 673 [INSPIRE].
- [49] E.A. Bergshoeff, S. de Haan, O. Hohm, W. Merbis and P.K. Townsend, Zwei-Dreibein Gravity: A Two-Frame-Field Model of 3D Massive Gravity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 111 (2013) 111102 [Erratum ibid. 111 (2013) 259902] [arXiv:1307.2774] [INSPIRE].
- [50] D.G. Boulware and S. Deser, Can gravitation have a finite range?, Phys. Rev. D 6 (1972) 3368 [INSPIRE].
- [51] A. Avgoustidis, F. Niedermann, A. Padilla and P.M. Saffin, Deconstructing higher order clockwork gravity, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 124007 [arXiv:2010.10970] [INSPIRE].
- [52] A. Gromov and D.T. Son, Bimetric Theory of Fractional Quantum Hall States, Phys. Rev. X 7 (2017) 041032 [Addendum ibid. 8 (2018) 019901] [arXiv:1705.06739] [INSPIRE].
- [53] O. Aharony, M. Berkooz and E. Silverstein, Multiple trace operators and nonlocal string theories, JHEP 08 (2001) 006 [hep-th/0105309] [INSPIRE].
- [54] G. D'Odorico, J.-W. Goossens and F. Saueressig, Covariant computation of effective actions in Hořava-Lifshitz gravity, JHEP 10 (2015) 126 [arXiv:1508.00590] [INSPIRE].
- [55] A.O. Barvinsky, D. Blas, M. Herrero-Valea, S.M. Sibiryakov and C.F. Steinwachs, *Renormalization of Hořava gravity*, *Phys. Rev. D* 93 (2016) 064022 [arXiv:1512.02250] [INSPIRE].
- [56] T. Griffin, K.T. Grosvenor, C.M. Melby-Thompson and Z. Yan, Quantization of Hořava gravity in 2 + 1 dimensions, JHEP 06 (2017) 004 [arXiv:1701.08173] [INSPIRE].
- [57] A.O. Barvinsky, D. Blas, M. Herrero-Valea, D.V. Nesterov, G. Pérez-Nadal and C.F. Steinwachs, *Heat kernel methods for Lifshitz theories*, *JHEP* 06 (2017) 063 [arXiv:1703.04747] [INSPIRE].
- [58] A.O. Barvinsky, D. Blas, M. Herrero-Valea, S.M. Sibiryakov and C.F. Steinwachs, *Hořava Gravity is Asymptotically Free in* 2+1 Dimensions, Phys. Rev. Lett. **119** (2017) 211301 [arXiv:1706.06809] [INSPIRE].